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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

FEMBRR

Year ended 31 March

BEIAIBLEFE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss #REEZRK 2019 2018 Change
20195 20184 BE %

From continuing operation: REFFELEER
— Revenue (HK$'000) — WA (FEL) 156,721 23,188 133,533 575.87%
— Gross profit (HK$'000) — EF(FEL) 60,233 7,198 53,035 736.8%
— Loss before tax (HK$'000) — BREAIEE(FERT) (95,332) (87,046) (8,286) 9.52%
From discontinued operation: REDRIEEEER -
— Profit for the year (HK$'000) — FREHM (FHET) — 16,478 (16,478) 100%
Loss for the year (HK$'000) FAEE(FHET) (129,323) (93,194) (36,129) 38.77%
Loss attributable to the equity holders ARARRELEER(FET)

of the Company (HK$'000) (129,323) (92,650) (36,673) 39.58%
Basic loss per share (HK cents) FREREE GBI (6.78) (4.86) (1.92) 39.51%
Diluted loss per share (HK cents) FR#EEEE OB (6.78) (5.75) (1.03) 17.91%

As at 31 March
H3A31H

Consolidated Statement of

Financial Position FREMBIRR R 2019 2018 Change

20194 20184 #E %

Net assets (HK$'000) AEFE(FET) 774,742 | 1,024,301 (249,559) (24.36)%
Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) BehEFERBES (FHIT) 163,248 55,431 107,817 194.51%
Promissory notes and borrowings EHRBREE (FET)

(HK$'000) 2,334,374 1,977,493 356,881 18.05%
Equity attributable to equity holders AR BIRR EG S (FABT)

of the Company (HK$'000) 774,742 1,024,301 (249,559) (24.36)%




Financial Highlights
MBRE

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS
ER L=

REBEBAERAT | —2—NEFR 05

2018 Change

2019
20195 20184F HE

From continuing operation:
Gross profit margin®

Return on equity®

Current ratio (times)®
Gearing ratio (times)®

AR
EFix0

BRRE S @ H?

FE LK (f2)0
BAE K (f5) W

38.4%

(16.7)%

1.9
3.0

31.0% 7.4 percentage points

7AEBE D E
(9.00% —7.7 percentage points
7 7B D
1.6
1.9

©) Gross profit margin represents gross profit divided by revenue of the (1)

Group.

) Return on equity is defined as the ratio of loss attributable to equity — (2)
holders of the Company to total equity attributable to equity holders of

the Company.

©)) Current ratio is defined as the ratio of total current assets to total  (3)

current liabilities.

(4) Gearing ratio represents promissory notes and borrowings, including  (4)
current and non-current portions, divided by total equity.

EFEEAREEMERIABA

Hx%ﬁé@iﬁﬂazﬁ AR R RAR
RE BRI e

MBI EIERBEERER AR B ERE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEHRE

On behalf of the board of directors, | am pleased to present the
result of Man Sang International Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2019 ("FY19").

PERFORMANCE

The Group focuses on the development, sales and leasing of
properties in Mainland China. Overall, the Chinese economy
maintained a steady and growing momentum in FY19, demonstrating
strong resilience and tremendous potential. It is currently the
Group’s business strategy to slowly and gradually offer the
residential apartments for sale to the public in order to enjoy the
anticipated growth in the property price in Chongging. The revenue
generated from sales of those residential apartments of the
redeveloped property located in the central business district of
Chongging, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") (known as the
“Chongging Property”) increased by HK$133.5 million or 575.4% from
HK$23.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 (“FY18").

The loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
increased from HK$92.7 million in FY18 to HK$129.3 million in FY19,
representing an approximately 39.5% increase over the previous
years, which was mainly attributable to the net effect of (1) an
increase in gross profit by HK$53.0 million from HK$7.2 million in
FY18; (2) a decrease in fair value of investment properties under
construction of HK$30.4 million (FY18: increase in fair value of
investment properties under construction of HK$54.1 million); (3) a
finance income of HK$29.3 million earned from a refundable deposit
for a proposed acquisition in FY18, which has been refunded
subsequently in FY18; (4) an one-off profit from discontinued
operation of HK$16.5 million was earned in FY18 from disposal of a
segment engaged in the development and operation of a large-scale
international pearl and jewellery trading platform and the leasing and
sale of the related commercial and residential properties; and (5) a
decrease in finance costs by HK$40.7 million from HK$123.7 million
in FY18 to HK$83.0 million in FY19.

PROSPECTS

The Chongging Property is currently in the progress of
redevelopment. Upon the completion of redevelopment, it will
comprise residential apartments, service apartments and commercial
units in a shopping mall. The redevelopment comes to the final
stage. The residential apartments are all available for sales upon
demand from potential customers. In respect of the service
apartments which will be managed by an international renowned
hotel management group and commercial units in a shopping mall
both for lease, it is expected the remaining redevelopment will be
completed and available for lease in the second half of 2019. The
redevelopment slightly falls behind the planned schedule due to
redevelopment plan is progressively refined. Nevertheless, we are
confident that the redevelopment of the Chongging Property will be
completed in the second half of 2019.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFRBE

The Chongging Property is located in the central business district.
Given the promising commercial and residential property market in
Chongging, along with the increasing in purchasing power and the
implementation of “The Belt and Road Initiative” which also brings
development opportunities to the Chongging real estate market, it is
expected to achieve steady growth in foreseeable future. After the
completion of the remaining redevelopment, the selling of residential
apartments and leasing of service apartments and commercial units
in a shopping mall will be able to generate stable income to the
Group in the long run.

Given the Group's currently high gearing position and the
deleveraging policy implemented by the PRC government, the
Company remained focus on (i) monitoring the financial performance
of the existing business in the Chongging Property, and (ii)
maximising the return from the Chongging Property so as to
generate stable income and cash flows and lower the gearing ratio
and the finance costs.

The Company has also been continuously evaluating the current
business strategies of the Group and the financing performance of
the Group's existing businesses with an aim to achieve the best use
of its resources and improve its overall performance and investment
portfolio diversification. The Company has been actively looking to
diversify the revenue sources of the Group in order to create
shareholders’ value through making investments and/or acquiring
business or projects that have promising outlooks and prospects.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude
to all our shareholders, customers and other business partners for
their long-term attention and support to the Group over the years. |
would also like to thank the senior management team and all staff of
the Group for their dedication and hard work to the Group during
the past year.

Hu Xingrong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 12 June 2019

REBERERAR/ —E—NEER 07

EEVEURTLOAFRLE  REENEX
MEEMETSAGEEL - HENEN BB
el —%—BIBRITREEFMETHH R
LREE YEHSRARSEKERRBER
R-HETRBIENERE  HEEEAEN
EHAERBARBRBEYES N2 BEHL
BREENES SAREHERIBERA -

HERASEBEMEEABLERFES  AF
BRAEREEERCBER  AAREERT
ROEZREEMERRBEBOMBRIR + &)
BEEMEND B K CAEFBARR R
MEBRE  YXREEERBLERMBAA

ARBMEFEFEAEE 2R B XHRE
RAGEREXRBZHMHRR  §EERK
BEREREERLIEFAEERBRANKRER
BEZET - RRABEREBIRKEAEE 2 K
ARRZ T - BBEHRE R SKEAE
RIFATSRZEBHIAR - EMalERREE -

B

SER  ARBAZEBRE  FPREME
BBHSNIE  AABURLEN - A28
IERERABAEERETBE—FEB
B SATRATKEELES - AART
B -

FE
[l
BB 2019F6 128



08 Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2019

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Man Sang
International Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to report the results
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2019 (“FY19"). During FY19, the consolidated
loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was HK$129.3
million (year ended 31 March 2018 (“FY18"). HK$92.7 million). Basic
loss per share was 6.78 HK cents (FY18: 4.86 HK cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group remained focusing on the development, sales and leasing
of properties in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). During
FY19, property sales volume and property price in the PRC increased
progressively and expected to grow in forthcoming years.

Chongqing Property

Chongging Kingstone Land Co., Ltd* (EEEARAEMARAQR)
(“Chongging Kingstone”) holds a property located in lJiefangbei
business district of Yuzhong District and is close to Jiefangbei
Walking Street (the “Chongging Property”), which is a pedestrian lane
with numerous retail shops. Given the geographical location of the
Chongging Property, the Company considers that the Chongging
Property will benefit from the heavy pedestrian flow nearby and thus
aim to develop the Chongging Property to become a new landmark
in Yuzhong District.

The Chongging Property is in the progress of redevelopment
(renovation without demolishing/altering the building structure). Upon
completion of the redevelopment, the Chongging Property will
comprise residential apartments (for sale), service apartments (for
lease) and commercial units in a shopping mall (for lease).

The redevelopment comes to the final completion stage. The
residential apartments are all available for sales upon demand from
potential customers. In respect of the service apartments which will
be managed by an international renowned hotel management group
and commercial units in a shopping mall both are for lease, it is
expected the remaining redevelopment will be completed and
available for lease in the second half of 2019. The redevelopment
slightly falls behind the planned schedule due to the redevelopment
plan is progressively refined. Nevertheless, we are confident that the
redevelopment of the Chongging Property will be completed in the
second half of 2019.

It is estimated that revenue from the leasing of the service
apartments and commercial units in a shopping mall will be
recorded during the year ending 31 March 2020 and Chongging
Kingstone will be able to generate stable rental income to the Group
in the long run.

MERE
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEERWED T

Looking forward

Given the Group's current high gearing position and the deleveraging
policy implemented by the PRC government, the Company remained
focus on (i) monitoring the financial performance of the existing
business in the Chongging Property; and (i) maximising the return
from the Chongging Property so as to generate stable income and
cash flows and lower the gearing ratio and the finance costs.

The Company has also been continuously evaluating the current
business strategies of the Group and the financing performance of
the Group's existing businesses with an aim to achieve the best use
of its resources and improve its overall performance and investment
portfolio diversification. The Company has been actively looking to
diversify the revenue sources of the Group in order to create
shareholders’ value through making investments and/or acquiring
business or projects that have promising outlooks and prospects.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin

Revenue of the Group was HK$156.7 million (FY18: HK$23.2 million)
during FY19, which comprised sales of residential apartments of the
Chongging Property. The revenue has increased by HK$133.5 million
or 575% as a result of the increase in the number of apartments
sold.

Gross profit of the Group increased by HK$53.0 million or 736% to
HK$60.2 million (FY18: HK$7.2 million) in FY19 as a result of the
increase in sales of the residential apartments mentioned above.

Gross profit margin of the Group increased from 31% in FY18 to 38%
in FY19 due to the continued growth in Chongging residential
property market and the demand of our residential units has been
increased. As a result, the selling price of the residential units of the
Chongging Property has increased in order to maximise the return
from sales of properties.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWED T

Selling and administrative expenses (the “S&A
expenses”)

S&A expenses mainly comprised selling expenses of HK$7.6 million
(FY18: HK$5.6 million) and administrative expenses of HK$42.5 million
(FY18: HK$50.4 million). S&A expenses decreased by HK$5.9 million
or 10.5% to HK$50.1 million (FY18: HK$56.0 million) in FY19, which
was mainly due to (1) a decrease of Directors’ emoluments in FY19
by HK$3.0 million after appointment of new Directors; (2) a decrease
in professional fee by HK$2.0 million as no major disposal and
acquisition projects were carried out in FY19; and (3) a decrease of
auditor's remuneration by HK$2.5 million related to the change of
auditor in FY17.

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company increased
from HK$92.7 million in FY18 to HK$129.3 million in FY19,
representing an approximately 39.5% increase over the previous
year, which was mainly attributable to the net effect of (1) an
increase in gross profit by HK$53.0 million from HK$7.2 million in
FY18; (2) a decrease in fair value of investment properties under
construction of HK$30.4 million (FY18: increase in fair value of
investment properties under construction of HK$54.1 million); (3) a
finance income of HK$29.3 million earned from a refundable deposit
for a proposed acquisition in FY18, which has been refunded
subsequently in FY18; (4) an one-off profit from discontinued
operation of HK$16.5 million was earned in FY18 from the disposal
of a segment engaged in the development and operation of a large-
scale international pearl and jewellery trading platform and the
leasing and sale of the related commercial and residential
properties; and (5) a decrease in finance cost by HK$40.7 million
from HK$123.7 million in FY18 to HK$83.0 million in FY19.

Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 March 2019, the Group's total equity was HK$774.7 million
(2018: HK$1,024.3 million), representing a decrease of 24.4% from
last year, which was due to (1) an incurring of loss attributable to
equity holders of the Company of HK$129.3 million; and (2) an
exchange loss on translation of foreign operations of HK$120.2
million as a result of decreasing in exchange rate of Renminbi
against Hong Kong dollars.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
HK$163.2 million (2018: HK$55.4 million). Cash and bank balances
were mainly denominated in Renminbi. The Group's working capital
or net current assets were HK$340.8 million (2018: HK$232.3 million).
The current ratio, represented by total current assets divided by total
current liabilities, was 1.9 (2018: 1.6).
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As at 31 March 2019, the Group had current liabilities of HK$371.2
million (2018: HK$416.4 million) and total borrowings, representing
other borrowings, promissory notes and unsecured borrowings from
a Director, of HK$2,334.4 million (2018: HK$1,977.5 million) with
interest bearing and denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong
dollars. The Group does not currently use any derivatives to manage
interest rate risk. Gearing ratio, represented by total borrowings
divided by total equity, was 3.0 (2018: 1.9).

Approximately HK$73.0 million (2018: HK$121.9 million) of the total
borrowings will be due in the coming twelve months from the end of
the reporting period. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had capital
commitment of HK$125.9 million (2018: HK$231.9 million), while its
net current assets and cash and cash equivalents amounted to
HK$340.8 million (2018: HK$232.3 million) and HK$163.2 million (2018:
HK$55.4 million), respectively.

In view of the above, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash
flow projections covering a period of twelve months from 31 March
2019 which have taken into account the following measures:

(1) Chongging Kingstone has commenced the sales of the
properties from the year ended 31 March 2017 which is
expected to continue to generate operating cash inflows to the
Group;

(2)  During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group obtained
unsecured revolving loan facilities from Mr. Hu Xingrong (“Mr
Hu"), with financial support from a company controlled by Mr.
Hu, in the amounts of (i) RMB500,000,000, equivalent to
HK$585,000,000, carrying an interest rate of 9% per annum and
will mature on 31 May 2020; and (ii) HK$100,000,000, carrying
an interest rate of 8% per annum and will mature on 6 July
2021. As at 31 March 2019, RMB294,150,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$344,156,000, and HK$50,000,000 were
utilised by the Group respectively and remaining total undrawn
facilities amounting to approximately HK$290,844,000.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
RMB167,600,000 equivalent to HK$196,092,000, were drawn
down by the Group; and

(3  The Company will not early redeem any promissory notes or
repay any borrowings before the maturity date until the Group
is in a financial position to do so.

REBRARAT I —B—HEER 11

MR201963A8318  AEB 2 RBEBES
371,200,000 7T (20184F : 416,400,0007% JT)
EAABTRAREEZ G EEERRE (AE
HEE AAEZEBENETERREE) A
2,334,400,00058 7T (20184F : 1,977,500,0005%
J0) c AKEBERYESHATANITETIAETRE
FEE B o iéTZISiéfftW (BMEEBREER AR
25 ) B3.0f% (20184 : 1.9fF) »

& B 4% 473,000,000/ T (20184
121,900,000 7T ) # B ¥ & B R B AR R+ — 1@
A EIH - 201953 A31H - REBIMA LK
A& 125,900,000 7T (20184F : 231,900,000
Br) MEFARDEEUNRIREAERRE
Bl 5 B &340,800,000# 7T (20184 :
232,300,000 7t) K 163,200,000 Jt (2018
£ 1 55,400,0005% 7T) :

AR EiER  EE20FBRAEBRE2019
FIAMBRA T _EAAHE 2R RETE
B BHRBEEEUATEE:

() EEE2ACBHEHZE201743A318LF
ERREEDE YBHEELALAEE
HREEBERA

(2) HEHZE2019F3ANBILEEER  AEH

@aﬂﬂiMﬁEi((aﬂﬁinHX%%?H%&?&ME
RERRME  mELEZSINA

REMNPBIEE P & )}\E%
500,000,0007t (8 & 585,000,000
JC) + F R KB 3§ 202058318
2 HF ¢ K (i) 100,000,00058 7T © FF| &8
[E 0 #% 722021497 A6 8 B H - 722019
F3A31B AEEESFIHBARE
294,150,0007T (48 & 7 #9344,156,0007%8
7T) }.50,000,0003 7T + #2F i4 ARS2ER L
& 4858 49290,844,00078 7T RS HIK
% AEBERIAR167,600,00070
(M E17196,092,000&7T) « &

@) ARABTEEAEBEIBART R
AEREOER TRAR R RS E KT B
H Al 42 F B Bl E Al AN RIR S E R

oY
e



12 Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2019

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWED T

Based on the above, in the opinion of the Directors, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to fulfil its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the coming twelve months from 31 March
2019. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare these consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group principally operates its businesses in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Group has subsidiaries operating in Mainland
China, in which most of their transactions are denominated in
Renminbi. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations
from Renminbi which is the main foreign currency transacted by the
Group during FY19.

The Group has not entered into any foreign exchange contract as
hedging measures. The Group manages its foreign currency risk
against Renminbi by closely monitoring its movement and may use
hedging derivative, such as foreign currency forward contract, to
manage its foreign currency risk as appropriate.

Human resources and remuneration policy

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a total workforce of 61 (2018:
61), of whom 16 (2018: 11) were based in Hong Kong. The total staff
cost, including Directors’ emoluments and contributions to the
mandatory provident fund, was approximately HK$26.5 million (2018:
HK$27.2 million). Employees were remunerated on the basis of their
performance and experience. Remuneration packages, including
salary and year-end discretionary bonus, were determined by
reference to market conditions and individual performance.

* The English name is for identification purpose only

ER BN BERAE  AEEBKERRE
BEESEITHB2019FE3A31BBstARK+ =
BRI HBET - Bt - BEREMIEE
MEHRRBITAVHEHRRBIAE -

PE = 5% B /& b
$$@IKEE%&¢IWW% A o A
EEANBARRTEANBEE  ABHR

SGUANREEHE - ZK%@J%%/\E%Z’JI\
MEN R - AR SRS B R 20194 B I
FEZEIERZINE -

AR B B AT ST INE & K R 8RB 1
AEBEBTYERAREEZTZHEIEL

SNERRR - WRIBERNEE Hﬂ\%ﬁﬁi_ﬁﬁ’il\
BHEHRTETAEBHINERR

ADERKFHFHBE
MR2019F3A31H  AEBEAA K614
(2018F : 61 EE + EF 164 (20184 : 11
HIEEEEBIE- BETIRA(BIEES
BN & oa 5l ATE ) 4 526,500,000 JT
(20184F : 27,200,000 7T) ° & B 2 #r B T LA
BEZRARKEHAEE - HINES (B
& RFRBIBIEL) BIZ2 B &8 TERI%
MET -



REBERERAR/ —E—NEER 13

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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CHAIRMAN

Mr. Hu Xingrong, aged 39, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board and an Executive Director of Man Sang International Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries as the “Group”) on 2
May 2018. Mr. Hu is responsible for the business strategy and
direction of the Company and provides leadership for the Board and
ensure proper and effective functioning of the Board. He has over
16 years of experience in corporate management, investment and
business development. He is currently the chairman of the board of
directors of Doof International Holding Group Limited* (%% &5 BB 122 f%
E£EABRAF]) (“Doof Group”) a company established in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC") and is involved in the business of
properties development in the PRC. Mr. Hu is also a beneficial
owner of China DaDi Group Limited, a substantial shareholder of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Mr. Hu
serves as a committee member of the 12th Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous
Region and Hainan Foundation for Justice and Courage* (& B&
BAESE) and he is also the Honorary President of Wenzhou
Economic and Technological Development Zone Chamber of
Commerce* (R M 487 BT f 2 (@ 27 ), Wenzhou Economic and
Technological Development Zone Industrial Economic Federation* (&
Mg BREMAERTIELERS®), Wenzhou Economic and
Technological Development Zone Entrepreneur Association* (V&M 4%
ERMEERACERHE), Wenzhou Enterprises Chamber of
Commerce in Beijing* (JbLFBIMPZEEE), Hong Kong Wenzhou
Entrepreneurs Association Limited, Zhejiang Merchants Association of
Chongging* (EE T A4S €) and Chongging General Chamber of
Ccommerce Zhejiang Branch* (EETAE SN IEE).

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Xiaohai, aged 50, was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company on 2 May 2018. Mr. Huang is responsible for the
overall implementation of the Company's strategies and the co-
ordination of overall business operations. He has over 30 years of
extensive experience in banking and financial sectors. He graduated
from China University of Petroleum (Beijing). Mr. Huang is currently
working as a vice president in Doof Group.

Mr. Jin Jianggui, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr. Jin graduated from
Hangzhou Dianzi University with a Bachelor’'s Degree in Finance. He
has over 26 years of extensive experience in banking and finance
sectors. Mr. Jin is currently working as a vice president in Doof
Group.

Mr. Li Zhenyu, aged 44, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr. Li graduated from Tsinghua
University with a Doctor of Philosophy in Chemical Engineering. Mr.
Li has over 17 years of extensive experience in natural resources
sector and before joining the Company, he had been working in
China National Petroleum Corporation from 1999 to 2017 and the
position last held was the strategy research supervisor of the
petrochemical institute. Mr. Li is currently working as a vice
president in Doof Group.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Pau Yee Ling, aged 40, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. Ms. Pau
holds a Bachelor degree of Business Administration in Accounting in
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a Master
degree of Science in China Business Studies in the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Ms. Pau has around 15 years of experience in
several multi-national corporations and international accounting
firms, expertise in Hong Kong, the PRC and overseas tax advisory,
group restructuring, merger and acquisitions. Ms. Pau is currently a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA") and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. She is
currently a director of a multi-national corporation.

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 47, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr.
Wong holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has over 18 years of
experience in accounting and financial management, mergers and
acquisitions gained from certain senior finance related positions
including companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is a fellow
member of the HKICPA. Mr. Wong is currently an independent Non-
executive Director of Culturecom Holdings Limited, a company listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 343).

Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, aged 56, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr. Yuen
has been serving as an executive director of Huayi Tencent
Entertainment Company Limited (“Huayi Tencent”), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 419). For the period from 2010
to 2016, Mr. Yuen was also the chairman and chief executive officer
of Huayi Tencent, as well as serving on its remuneration committee
and chairing its nomination committee, executive committee and
corporate governance committee.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Heng Choon, aged 39, joined the Group as the Company
Chief Financial Officer since June 2017 and was appointed as the
Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of the Group on 1
August 2018. Mr. Wong is responsible for corporate finance,
mergers and acquisitions, financial and accounting management,
investor relations, corporate governance as well as compliance
affairs. Mr. Wong has obtained a bachelor's degree in commerce,
majoring in accounting and finance from Curtin University of
Technology (Australia). Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the HKICPA,
a member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute. Mr. Wong has over 15 years of experience in
auditing, accounting management, corporate management and
corporate finance. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong held
different senior management positions in various companies,
including listed companies in Hong Kong and had worked in two
international accounting firms located in Hong Kong and Malaysia.

* The English name is for identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) recognises the importance of achieving the
highest standard of corporate governance consistent with the needs
and requirements of its businesses and the best interest of all of its
stakeholders, and the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) is fully committed to doing so. The Board believes that
high standards of corporate governance provide a framework and
solid foundation for the Group to manage business risks, enhance
transparency, achieve high standard of accountability and protect
stakeholders’ interests.

The Group has adopted a corporate governance statement of policy
which provides guidance on the application of the corporate
governance principles on the Group, with reference to the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code") as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all
code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2019.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. All Directors
have confirmed, upon specific enquiries made by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 March 2019. To ensure Directors’
dealings in the securities of the Company (the “Securities”) are
conducted in accordance with the Model Code and securities code
of the Company, a Director is required to notify the Chairman in
writing and obtain a written acknowledgement from the Chairman
prior to any dealings in the Securities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group,
which includes leadership and control of the Company and oversees
the Group's businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk
management and performances. The management team is delegated
with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day
management of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed. Major corporate matters that are
specifically delegated by the Board to the management include (1)
the preparation of interim and annual reports and announcements
for the Board’'s approval before publishing; (2) implementation of
adequate systems of internal controls and risk management
procedures, and (3) compliance with relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements and rules and regulations. It is the
responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate corporate
governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances
and to ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the
Ccompany’s corporate governance objectives.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the business requirements and objectives
of the Group and for the exercise of independent judgement. Each
Director with various professional qualification, experience and
related financial management expertise have contributed to the
effective direction of the Company and provided adequate checks
and balances to safeguard to the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders. Hence, the Board believes that the current Board
composition satisfy the balance of expertise, skills and experience to
the corporate governance requirements of the Group as well as the
ongoing development and management of its business activities.

The Board currently comprises four Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Hu Xingrong (Chairman), Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui and Mr.
Li Zhenyu and three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po.

The biographies of the existing Directors are set out in “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 13 to 14 of this annual
report.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review
and approve the Company’s interim and annual results. During the
year, seven Board meetings were held and the attendance of each
Director at the Board meetings is set out in the section headed
“Board and Committees Meetings” of this annual report.
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Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. All Directors are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The
Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for
meetings to comply with all applicable rules and regulations. The
agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally sent to
Directors at least three days before the intended date of a Board
meeting. Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to
Directors for their comment before being tabled at the next Board
meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, all Directors appointed to
fill @ causal vacancy shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at the meeting. At each annual general meeting, at least
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Save and except for Mr. Hu Xingrong who beneficially owns 100% in
the issued share capital of China DaDi International Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, there is no relationship
between members of the Board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the
“CEQ") of the Group are clearly defined and segregated to ensure
independence and proper checks and balances. The Chairman
focuses on the business strategy and direction of the Company and
has executive responsibilities, provides leadership for the Board and
ensures proper and effective functioning of the Board in discharging
of its responsibilities. The CEO is accountable to the Board for the
overall implementation of the Company's strategies and the co-
ordination of overall business operations.

There is currently no officer carrying the title of CEO up to the date
of this annual report. In the absence of the CEO, the duties of the
CEO have been/will continue to be undertaken by other executive
members of the Board, namely Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui
and Mr. Li Zhenyu, therefore, in the opinion of the Directors, the
roles of the Chairman and the CEO have been/will continue to be
properly segregated in the absence of an officer carrying the title of
CEO.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
received confirmation of independence from all three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan
Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all Independent Non-
executive Directors and concluded that all of them are independent
within the definition of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is
not aware of the occurrence of any events which would cause it to
believe that the independence of any of the Independent Non-
executive Directors has been impaired up to the date of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS” INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Upon appointing a new Director, each new Director receives an
induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and
regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that he/she is
sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, will receive amendments to or
updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the
Ccompany encourages the Directors to enrol in a wide range of
professional development courses and seminars relating to the
Listing Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and corporate
governance practices so that they can continuously improve their
relevant knowledge and skills. The Company has also provided
reading materials to all Directors to develop and refresh their
professional knowledge.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 22
August 2013 which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diversed Board and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company’s
strategic objectives and sustainable development.
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The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
talents, skills, experience, independence and knowledge. The
Company will also take into consideration its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven
Directors, amongst them, three are Independent Non-Executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether considered in terms of gender, age, professional
experience, skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Policy and the Board’s composition, the
Nomination Committee considered that the requirements of the
Policy had been met.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established by the Board with specific
written terms of reference and all members of the Audit Committee
are Independent Non-executive Directors. Pursuant to the Audit
Ccommittee’s terms of reference, the Audit Committee is authorised
to commit Company’s funds in order to obtain advice from outside
legal counsel, accountants, investigatory services or other expert
advice. Details of the authority and responsibilities of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-Executive
Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr.
Yuen Hoi Po. Mr. Wong Kwan Kit is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Audit Committee held
two meetings including the review of the annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2018 and the interim results for the six months
ended 30 September 2018 before their submission to the Board and
monitored the integrity of such consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Audit Committee also had a private meeting with the
independent auditor without the presence of management to discuss
any area of concern. The attendance of each member of the Audit
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this annual report.

The Audit Committee has also discussed and reviewed the key audit
matters determined by the external auditor under Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board with
specific written terms of reference and the majority of the members
of the Remuneration Committee are Independent Non-Executive
Directors. Details of the authority and responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, and two Executive Directors, namely Mr. Hu
Xingrong and Mr. Huang Xiaohai. Ms. Pau Yee Ling is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Remuneration Committee
held three meetings to approve the remuneration packages and
performance bonuses for the Directors and senior management of
the Company. The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this annual report.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the year ended
31 March 2019 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board with
specific terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for, amongst other things, identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members, considering the reappointment
of the Directors and succession planning for Directors and making
recommendations to the Board in respect of the aforesaid matters.
Details of the authority and responsibilities of the Nomination
committee are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee comprises three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, and two Executive Directors, namely Mr. Hu
Xingrong and Mr. Huang Xiaohai. Mr. Hu Xingrong is the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Nomination Committee
held two meetings to review the structure, size and composition of
the Board and concluded that members of the Board has possessed
the expertise and independence to carry out the Board’s functions
and responsibilities. The attendance of each member of the
Nomination Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and
committees Meetings” of this annual report.

FWEES

EEECRUYSFMEZBE S XERABER
BEE MHEMEZEEXBEOXE RBEILIFE
HWITEZ -FNZB S 2RBERBEFBR
ARNB R R AL Al & B -

FNEEER =R BUIFRTETRREL
T BEAEERRBRELEARMEBNT
EEMEKAEENEREREEANK - BKE
HEIRFMEZBEER -

BE2019F3ANBILFE  HFMEE 81T
ZREH OHEARFAEEREREEAR
ZEHEMESNRKRREAL -FHWEESREE
ZHERHIRNAFHEEGREEEER

-

L /

BE2019F3ANALFEZEZHMAIEH
NR B B S R MRS -

REZEES

EXEECHURBZES LE@MAHER
BEE -REZESRAE(HTEFE)Des
BABLEEEENE ZRBEREEUR
EFECHE Yt EEREESRD
HEEZ REZBEGCHELRBAEFER
EAN/NCIDNE B ir E AT RS Tl

REZBEEH-FZBUIFRTETHREL
T EBREANRERRBRAEEARMANT
EEHHEKEEREEGREMAMNK - HHEE
TERRZREZEEEERE -

BE2019F3A3MBILSFE REZEGESR
TRMREH RIEFEZ2RE HERAE
B URREFEKREABZIEXRNILE
NED BPBETEFSRENAET - RBEZ
B8R BZHREXRFIRAFRIZEFER

=]
ZEggR|—f-



Corporate Governance Report
ERERME

BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The individual attendance records of each Director at the various
meetings of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019 are

set out below:
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EEEREEEER
BE2019F3A31BILFE - REEHEAA
RS ERH B HFEERIMT

Annual

general Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination

meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director BEEnE BREBFAE EEg ERZEE® FHEEE REZET
Mr. Hu Xingrong® ERERER S ™ 11 7/7 — 2/2 11
Mr. Huang Xiaohai? EEE LR 1/1 717 — 2/2 1/1
Mr. Jin Jianggui® ESTHERES 0/0 2/2 — — —
Mr. Li Zhenyu® FIRFHRED 0/0 2/2 — — —
Ms. Pau Yee Ling® MRE L L0 0/0 2/2 11 2/2 1/1
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit® HEENILES 0/0 2/2 11 2/2 171
Mr. Yuen Hoi Po® REREEO 0/0 2/2 il 2/2 171
Ms. Cheng Ka Ki? Ef 52 H /N A 0/1 2/5 — 1/1 1/1
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai, Elton® REIE S E® 0/0 0/0 — — —
Mr. Lei Hong Wai® FHETED 0/0 0/0 — 0/0 0/0
Mr. Leung Alex® IR L 00 0/1 5/5 — — —
Mr. Yuan Huixia®® RIBE LW 0/1 3/5 — — —
Mr. Lai Hok Lim(™ REREg L 171 4/5 il 171 171
Mr. Lei Seng Fat(? FROEFLEN 1/1 4/5 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen“® HEREED 171 4/5 11 171 171

m

Mr. Hu Xingrong was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
and a member of Nomination Committee of the Company on 2 May
2018 and re-designed as chairman of Nomination Committee and a
member of Remuneration Committee of the Company on 5 November
2018.

Mr. Huang Xiaohai was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company and a member of Remuneration Committee of the Company
on 2 May 2018 and a member of Nomination Committee of the
Company on 5 November 2018.

Mr. Jin Jianggui and Mr. Li Zhenyu were appointed as Executive Directors
of the Company on 5 November 2018.

Ms. Pau Yee Ling was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, a chairman of Remuneration Committee of
the Company and a member of Audit Committee and Nomination
committee of the Company on 5 November 2018.

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, a chairman of Audit Committee of the
Company and a member of Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company on 5 November 2018.

Mr. Yuen Hoi Po was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company
on 5 November 2018.

Ms. Cheng Ka Ki was resigned as an Executive Director of the Company
and a member of Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company on 5 November 2018.
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(8) Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai, Elton was resigned as an Executive Director of
the Company on 3 April 2018.

9) Mr. Lei Hong Wai was resigned as the Executive Director of the Company
and a member of Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company on 3 April 2018.

(10)  Mr. Leung Alex and Mr. Yuan Huixia were resigned as Executive
Directors of the Company on 5 November 2018.

(11)  Mr. Lai Hok Lim was resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company, a chairman of Nomination Committee and a member
of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company on
5 November 2018.

(12)  Mr. Lei Seng Fat was resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company, a chairman of Remuneration Committee and a
member of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company on 5 November 2018.

(13)  Mr. Won Tak Chuen was resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, a chairman of Audit Committee and a
member of Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company on 5 November 2018.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019
which gives a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and of the consolidated
financial performance and cash flows for year then ended. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2019, the Board has selected appropriate accounting
policies, applied them consistently in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants which are pertinent to its operations
and relevant to the consolidated financial statements, made
judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and
ensured the preparation of the consolidated financial statements on
the going concern basis.

The Group endeavours to present a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group's performance, position
and prospects. The interim and annual results of the Company are
announced in a timely manner within the limit of two months and
three months, respectively, after the end of the relevant periods in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for preparing all
information and representation contained in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2019.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the remuneration paid/
payable to SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and its affiliated firm is set
out as follows:
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HK$'000

FAET

Audit of consolidated financial statements BREEMBEHRE 1,500
Interim review services FR HAEE B AR 7S 145
Other services H b Az 7% 99
1,744

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the
design and implementation of internal controls and risk management
which covers financial reporting, operations, compliance and risk
management of the Group, as well as continuous monitoring the
effectiveness of such internal controls and risk management. The
Board has delegated such responsibility to the management of the
Company. The management, under the supervision of the Board, has
established an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and
managing significant risks faced by the Group.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk
management that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function, as well as their training programmes and
budgets.

(@) the process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group's
business and operations.
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(b)

Risk Assessment

J Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact and consequence on the business
and the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response

o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

the main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure compliance
with relevant laws, rules and regulations;, ensure proper
maintenance of accounting records for provision of reliable
financial information used within the business or for
publication; and to provide reasonable assurance against
material misstatement, loss or fraud.
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(c)

(d)

an acknowledgement by the Board that it is
responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
It should also explain that such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and reviewing their
effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk management
of the Group and endeavours to identify, control impact of the
identified risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated
mitigating measures. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failures to achieve business objectives and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

the process used to review the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and
to resolve material internal control deficiency

The Company establishes an internal control team to review
the risk management and internal control systems of the
subsidiaries of the Group which were established in the
People’s Republic of China. The results and findings were
presented to the Board and Audit Committee for reviewing its
effectiveness.

The Board has also engaged Citylinkers Corporate Advisory
Services Limited as its risk management and internal control
review adviser (the "Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
as a whole for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such review is
conducted annually and cycles reviewed are under rotation
basis. The scope of review was previously determined and
approved by the Board. The Adviser has reported findings and
areas for improvement to the Audit Committee and
management. The Board/Audit Committee are of the view that
there are no material internal control deficiency noted. All
recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed up by
the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that
the risk management and internal control systems are effective
and adequate.

(c)

(d)
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(e) the procedures and internal controls for the

handling and dissemination of inside information
An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential
inside information being captured and confidentiality of such
information being maintained until consistent and timely
disclosure are made in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
policy regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information, which includes:

o Designated reporting channels from different operations
informing any potential inside information to designated
departments;

o Designated persons and departments to determine further
escalation and disclosure as required; and

o Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons
and respond to external enquiries.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system in place
covering all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions for
the year under review and up to the date of issuance of the
annual report is reasonably effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Heng Choon has been the Company Secretary of the
Company since August 2018. He is a full time employee of the
Company and has adequate working knowledge on the Company to
discharge his duty as the Company Secretary. Mr. Wong reports to
the Chairman of the Company and is responsible for advising the
Board on corporate governance matters. For the year under review,
Mr. Wong has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a Special
General Meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), registered Shareholders holding not
less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company (the
“SGM Requisitionists”) can deposit a written request to convene a
SGM at the registered office of the Company (the “Registered
Office"), which is presently situated at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The SGM Requisitionists must state
in their request(s) the objects of the SGM and such request(s) must
be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the SGM
Requisitionists.
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The Share Registrars will verify the SGM Requisitionists’ particulars in
the SGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation from
the Share Registrars that the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in order,
the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene a
SGM by serving sufficient notice to all the registered Shareholders in
accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory
reguirements. On the contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request is
verified not in order, the SGM Requisitionists will be advised of the
outcome and a SGM will not be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM if within twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the
SGM Requisitionists’ request, the Board does not proceed duly to
convene a SGM provided that any SGM so convened is held within
three (3) months from the date of the original SGM Requisitionists’
request. A SGM so convened by the SGM Requisitionists shall be
convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in
which meetings are to be convened by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals
at a General Meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the registered
Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company (the “Requisitionists”), or not less than 100
of such registered Shareholders, can request the Company in writing
to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting, and (b)
circulate to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
general meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant
expenses, not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week
before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided
that if an AGM s called for a date six weeks or less after the
requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not deposited
within the time required shall be deemed to have been properly
deposited for the purposes thereof.

Shareholders” Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level
22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong (with effect
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from 11 July 2019, the address will be changed to Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong), or call its
customer service hotline at (852) 2980 1333.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The annual general meeting provides an opportunity for shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The chairman of the Board and
the chairmans of Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee had attended the 2018 AGM of the
Company held on 26 July 2018 to answer shareholders’ questions.

The public are welcomed to give their comments and make
enquiries through the Company’s website and by means of emails to
the investor relations department (email address: ir@msil.com.hk).
The management always provides prompt responses to any such
enquiries.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that our employees, customers and
suppliers and business associates are key stakeholders to the
company’s success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging our employees, providing quality products and
services to our customers, collaborating with business partners
(including suppliers and contractors) to deliver quality sustainable
products and services and supporting our community.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s bye-laws during the year.
The Company’'s bye-laws is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

By Order of the Board
Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 June 2019
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRE - HERERRE

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is pleased to
present the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report,
highlighting its ESG performance, with disclosure reference made to
the ESG Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 27 to The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and Guidance set out by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Group’s main business operations are the development, sales
and leasing of properties in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"). This ESG report covers the Group’s overall performance in
two subject areas, namely, Environmental and Social of the business
operations in the consolidation level from 1 April 2018 to 31 March
2019, unless otherwise stated. The Group’s head office in Hong
Kong, the office in Chongging and the office in Wenzhou were all
included in the scope. The total floor area of the three offices are
974.62 m?.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

The Group values input and feedback of its stakeholders as they
have substantial contributions to the Group and bring potential
impacts to the Group’s business. Internal and external stakeholders
have been involved in regular engagement activities to share views
regarding the Group’s operations and performances. The following
table provides an overview of the Group's key stakeholders and the
various communication channels used to reach and listen to their
expectations:

Stakeholders
ESEREE

Engagement channels
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Concern issues

BERE

Government Departments — On site visits and chats
and Regulators —
research and discussions

— Company website feedback

Y 0P e 1 — EMERREH
— THEHRFT T
— RAPHES

Work conferences, work together on

— Compliance with the law and
regulations

— Government planning on promoting
regional economic development and
employment

— Proper tax payment

— HEFERRER

— BUNHHEMELSEERELERE

—  EMT
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Stakeholders
SR E

Engagement channels

SHERE

Concern issues

BEEE

Shareholders and Investors

BREKBEE

Employees

7
]

Customers

Suppliers and Business
Partners

TR X GRH

Annual general meeting and
shareholders meetings

Annual report and announcements
Newsletter

Investor meetings and road shows
REBFRERRREAE
FmErE

NCIEER

KEEGEMKE

Staff orientation

Internal training, briefing and
appraisals

Intranet and emails

Newsletters

& B iR
WEREFI ~ B R FFZ
PR Bt 408 70 B 6
ACIPEES

Company website feedback,
brochures distribution and annual
report

Customer feedback and service
hotline

Feedback forms

NEREEEE  NMEFREERE
EFPERRIRIGRAR
BREM

Business meetings, supplier
conferences, phone calls and
interviews

Review and assessment meeting

Xes HENEXRE  BEND
2
28

ma Rt g

Return to the shareholders
Information disclosure and
transparency

Protection of interests and fair
treatment of shareholders

fi% 8 [5]

BB NMERE
RIEREED R A FHFRE

Salary level and other welfare of
employees

Working environment and
occupational safety

Training and self-actualisation
Anti-discrimination

R CF R E A R B &R
THERREEBELZR
BEIRBRER

B 11248

Safe and high-quality products
Stable and trusted relationship
Information transparency
Business ethics

Integrity

22 REEER
S RET T
& MERE
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i

Stable and long-term relationship
Information sharing

Good quality control

Mitigate transaction risk in every
aspect
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BEEE
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Stakeholders
fESEREE

Engagement channels

SHRE
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Concern issues

BEEE

Industry Associations

TTRAR

Financial Institutions

PAF AR

Media

General Public and
communities

AR Rt

— Industry conference and meeting
— Site visit

— ERE#REREZ
— EHRE

— Communications with relationship
manager

— Consultation and regular meetings

— Reports

— BEREPKEBER

— WAkTHE=RE

=
— WE

— Company website
— Media conference
— Announcements

— QAR
— REE®E

— N
=

>

— Volunteer work of our staff

— Charity activities and social
investment

— Announcements

-

Off o Jmo

SEFETTIE
A

— RELRDRHERE

&
o
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— Knowledge sharing

— Fair competition

— Professional standard development
— H#MSF

— RVEF

— BXREBEEER

— Update compliance with law and
regulations

— Information disclosure

— Market information update

—  EIRTROIERMER

— ERE

— WMSEMEN

— Improve our communication channel
and mitigate risk

— Enhance our corporate image

— BREBBRERBRERR

— EAGEEK

— Understand our projected image
within the general public

— Be a responsible company

— Understand our environmental and
social impact to the society

— Announce our career opportunities

— TERAREERMANTEENIE

— EEREENAQA

— TEAMHEEEENRRNLER
&

— BHAMANTEES
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Through meetings and surveys, the Group and its stakeholders
identified the following to five material aspects:

o Anti-corruption

o Intellectual property

o Customer service

o Supplier chain management
o Product and service quality

The Board understands that it has overall responsibility for the
Group's ESG strategy and reporting ESG-related risks are identified
through the risk control procedures. The identified material aspects
are strictly managed through the Group’s policies and guidelines.
Management of the aspects have been described in separate
sections below. The Group will continue to identify areas of
improvement for the concerned aspects and keep close
communication with its stakeholders to share and exchange ideas
for advancing the Group’s ESG management.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group is committed to continuous improvement of its ESG
management. Its administration department and the finance
department keep track of the environmental and social data and
report to the Board members for periodic review. The Group also
welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG approach and
performance. Please give your suggestions or share your views with
us via email at ir@msil.com.hk.

A. Environmental

The Group pays great attention to protect the environment and
is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment
and community in which it operates. The Group is
endeavoured to comply with all the local rules and regulations
concern with environmental policies to ensure the property
development projects meet the required environmental
standard. The Group stringently controls its emissions and
resources consumption in all their operating regions
throughout their daily operations. All operating regions of the
Group have implemented effective energy conservation
measures to minimise the environmental impact, such as
raising the environmental awareness, using resources
responsibly, and managing the waste efficiently. Managing the
environmental impacts of supply chains, and combating
corruption, makes good business sense as well as the right
thing to do.
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Al.

Emissions

With the nature of the business, the Group’s operations
were office based and its related environmental impact is
very minimal. The Group did not note any cases of
material non-compliance relating to air and greenhouse
gas (“GHG") emissions, discharge into water and land,
and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste as required by the applicable laws and
regulations.

The operation of the Group includes property
development. The Group does not operate a construction
team but non-direct environmental impact from
contractors cannot be underestimated. The Group adopts
environmental management system and strictly monitors
its projects to comply with national and local laws and
regulations related to environmental protection and
pollution control, including but not limited to the
followings:

—  Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC");

—  Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
PRC;

— Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution;

— Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste; and

— Law of the PRC on the Appraising of Environment.

Al.
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AT1.1. Air Emissions

Al2.

During the reporting period, the management of the
Group and guests consumed petrol for Group-
owned vehicles, which contributed to the emission
of nitrogen oxides (“NO,"), sulphur oxides ("SO,")

A1l =R K
RIFEHR SFEETEER
EEHEEBAEBEANER
Al ELEREAELD
(INO D) ~ Hr&k¥ (I'so, 1)

and particulate matter (“PM").

KHLF ([PM]) BIBERL

Air emissions (non-GHG) from stationary and mobile combustion

BERARBMBELENZRSEYHEHR GERERR)

Fuel Source Use of fuel NO, (in kg) PM (in kg) SO_ (in kg)
R R R BB A& NO (F3) PM(F =) SO (F)
Petrol For vehicles

b EH 0.76 0.09 0
TOTAL

st 0.76 0.09 0

GHG Emissions

Scope of GHG Emissions

0 E RS SR s E

A12 BETEEL

Emission (in tonnes

of carbon dioxide

Emission Sources equivalent “tCO,e”)
E2.97

(H—FtREE

B B3R R [M_F{HREE])

Total Emission
Percentage

HRBRER D

Scope 1 Direct Emission

BE-EEFER

Combustion of fuel for mobile
sources

FATA 7 B SRR B KRR 05

Petrol

! 4.09

1%

Scope 2 Energy Indirect Emission
BE—RREEER
Purchased electricity

BEE

Scope 3 Other Indirect Emission

BE=HAABEEHER

Electricity used for freshwater
processing

ARKKEENESD

Electricity used for sewage
processing

ARBKEENED

Business air travel

ABEMT

409.69

1.57

0.85

20.76

94%

Less than 1%
LI1%

Less than 1%
LI1%

5%

Total
et

436.96

100%
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ATl.3.

AlA4.

Note 1:Emission factors were made by reference to
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules and their
referred documentation as set out by the Stock
Exchange, unless stated otherwise.

Note 2:Combined margin emission factor of 0.63 tCO,/
MWh was used for purchased electricity in
Guangdong Province of the PRC.

Note 3:Emission factors for combustion of natural gas and
diesel for stationary source were made reference
to GHG Emissions from Stationary Combustion
(Chinese), provided by the Greenhouse Gas
Protocol.

The Group has moved to a new Hong Kong office
in October 2018. Since then, all the electricity used
was included in the rental fee. The Hong Kong
office can't estimate the electricity used since
October 2018. The electricity used of the Wenzhou
office is also included in the rental fee, no
electricity use data can be collected in Wenzhou
office under such circumstances. The electricity
that reported in the above table only account for
the electricity utilisation of Hong Kong office up to
October 2018, office and construction site in
Chongging. The Group's activities contributed to
436.96 tCO,e (emission intensity of 0.45 tCO.e/m?,
7.16 tCO,e/staff) emission during the reporting
period.

Hazardous Waste
During the reporting period, the Group did not note
any hazardous waste disposal due to its simple
office operations.

Non-hazardous Waste

Main non-hazardous waste generated from the
Group's office operation is paper waste. Total non-
hazardous waste generated by the Group during
the reporting period was 75 kg (0.08 kg/m?, 1.23
kg/staff).
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A1.5. Measures to Mitigate Emissions

Alé.

The Group endeavours to identify sources of high
energy consumption, material consumption and
environmental pollution in its office operations and
implement measures for improvement. Energy
conservation policies and procedures have adopted
to mitigate emission. Energy saving mode has
adopted as (i) all the computers, all electrical
power supply must be switched off when space is
vacant; and (i) labels have used to remind the
practices of staff on energy conservation. The
Group also regularly check and maintenance of
company vehicles to ensure the vehicles are in
their good form to reduce emissions.

Waste Reduction and Initiatives

The Group aims to reduce generation of non-
hazardous waste (mainly paper) at source
whenever possible. The Group understands that
non-direct generation of waste on construction
project is one of the major concerns. The Group
requires all contractors to sort and recycle all
construction and demolition waste produced from
the property development site. Non-recyclable
wastes are delivered to landfills by qualified wastes
management companies to reduce pollution.

Reducing Paper Waste

The Group highly advocates paperless office. A
total 202.1 Kg of paper had been used for daily
office operation such as printing of documents,
contracts, order forms, technical drawings and
meeting notes. Waste paper has been recycled.
The Group reduced paper consumption by:

o Developing management software to support
establishment of a paperless office;

o using recycled paper,

o Adopting double-sided printing; and

o Maintaining printers, copiers, and fax
machines to avoid wastage of paper due to
poor printing quality.
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A2.

Use of Resources

Reducing energy use, reducing resources consumption
and enhancing utilisation are the Group’s principles in
managing its use of resources. The Group proactively
seeks opportunities to effectively and efficiently use of
resources. The Group closely monitors the use of energy
and water to alert the senior management on ongoing
performance. Appropriate remedial actions are taken
whenever necessary to improve efficiency.

AZ2.1.

A22.

A2.3.

Energy Consumption

A2.
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A2.1. BEJREFE

Consumption

Energy Consumption Sources Direct Consumption (in kWh)
RE R H 32 R HEHEE HEE(TRHE)
Electricity

W 628,076 kWh F L 628,076
Petrol

7T 1,517.74 liter F+ 14,722

The total energy consumed by the Group was
642,798 kwWh during the reporting period (please
reference to the A.1 Emissions explanation). The
administration department keeps track of its energy
consumption and informs responsible divisions/
departments if abnormal consumption is found.

Water Consumption

The Group consumed freshwater supplied by the
municipal freshwater supplier. Water is mainly
consumed for general office operation. Water
consumption of the Group during the reporting
period was 3,900 m? in our Chongging office. As
water supplies of Hong Kong and Wenzhou office
were included in the management fee, thus no
such data can be collected in these two offices
location. The water intensity cannot be calculated
under such circumstances. There was no issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group controlled lightings and temperature of
air conditioners to reduce electricity consumption.
During the reporting period, energy saving mode
was set for all computers, purchase of electric
appliances with energy efficiency label were
adopted, power supplies were switched off while
leaving, air conditions were set at 25.5T.
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B.

A2.4. Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group encourages water conservation and
reduces water wastage through inspections and
maintenance of the water supply. Reminder and
notices were posted to encourage water saving.
Water saving taps were installed in pantry to
further saving water.

A2.5. Packaging Materials

The Group did not generate any packaging
materials during the reporting period.

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources
A3.1. Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

The Group is aware that its construction projects
may have significant impacts on environment. The
Group has developed stringent environmental
protection assessment reporting system on new
construction project. Emissions and use of
resources policies are implemented throughout the
whole construction process.

The Group will continue to review its environmental
management and performance, so as to reduce
adverse environmental impact caused by its
development projects. The Group plans to establish
an emergency response system to guarantee a
prompt reaction to environmental incidents and
mitigate the environmental risk.

Social
1.  Employment and Labour Practices
B1.  Employment

Total Employees and Turnover

The Group had a total number of 61 employees as
of 31 March 2019, 16 in Hong Kong office, 35 in
Chongging office and 10 in Wenzhou office, in
which one employee is part-time staff in Wenzhou
office.
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Male
ESd

0%

Workforce by Gender

(in percentage)

EHRESNES (LB HETE)

Female 36%
hegd

64%
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Workforce by Age Group
(in percentage)

EFRARN BT NES (LEDLLEHE)

A |
SR L %
"8 v I
46-55%% 15%

Age 36-45

36-455% 28%

g2 s I,
26-355% 8%

Age 18-25
18-255%

20% 40% 60% 80%

A total of 41 employees left the Group in the
reporting period.

The Group stringently complies with national and
local laws and regulations concerning employment
and labour practices, including but not limited to
the followings:

Labour Law of the PRC;

Labour Contract Law of the PRC;

Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors;
Law of the PRC on the Protection of Disabled
Persons; and

o Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child
Labor.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare had
been identified during the Reporting Period.
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Turnover Rate by Gender
(in percentage)

BEHRESHRRR(LED L)

Female
86%
Fl“ﬁt _
Male N
F _ o

0%

Turnover Rate by Age Group
(in percentage)

BERARBINRAE (LB 2 HEE)

Age 56 or Above
sesacot - N 2%

gad |
46-555% 100%

20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Employee Benefits and Welfare

The Group abides by the Labour Law of the PRC
and provides social insurance, subsidies, holidays
and other welfare according to the statutory
requirement. Employment contract terms are
stipulated under the principles of fairness,
voluntarism, mutual consent, integrity and
credibility. The Group provides employees with
competitive compensation, holiday benefits and
discretionary bonus. Salary adjustment is
performed annually according to the work
performance of individual employee and the market
trend. Employees are entitled to annual leave,
marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity leave,
medical insurance and retirement benefit schemes.

During the reporting period, no material non-
compliance in relation to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods and other benefits and welfare
was recorded.

Equal Opportunity

The Group provides equal opportunities for
employees in respect of recruitment, job
advancement, training and development, etc.
Employees are not discriminated against or
deprived of such opportunities on the basis of
race, nationality, religion, physical condition,
disability, gender, pregnancy, sexual orientation,
political status, age and any other discrimination
prohibited by applicable law. Employees shall not
act in discriminatory manner or they can be
subject to disciplinary actions. No material non-
compliance in relation to relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company regarding equal opportunity, diversity and
anti-discrimination was recorded during the
reporting period.
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B2.

B3.

Employee Health and Safety

Occupational Health and Safety

During the reporting period, the Group was
committed to maintaining a harmless, non-
hazardous, healthy and safe working environment.
Employees are required to participate in regular fire
drill. All employees should be familiar with the
locations of safe exit, fire alarm and fire
equipment. In addition, all employees are entitled
to medical insurance and travel insurance. The
Group has formulated different contingency plans to
handle different emergency situations.

During the development of the property, safety
environment shall be maintained jointly by
contractors, sub-contractors and their employees
and must comply with applicable local, national
laws and rules, health and safety legislation and
recognised codes and standards. Site-specific
conditions and rules developed with the
consideration of all significant hazards and their
risks, and other items which are important for the
safe and efficient operation of the project must be
strictly complied and disclosed. The safety and
quality of properties are monitored at all stages of
construction by the Group to ensure that they
meet the highest standards. This entails a
dedication to stringent product safety standards
and a focus on health and safety issues in property
development practices.

During the reporting period, no work-related
fatalities and lost days due to work injury was
recorded in the Group. During the year under
review, the Group was not in violation of any of the
relevant laws and regulations in relation to
providing a safe working environment and
protecting the employees from occupational
hazards that have a significant impact on the
Group.

Development and Training

People are the most treasurable assets of the
Group. Investing in people is one of the Group's
focuses and a key factor contributing to the
Group’s continuous growth. The Group provides
comprehensive training and development
opportunities to all level of its employees including
orientation training, on job related training and
department specific training. The Group also
subsidises employee to participate external training
for their self-development.
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B4.

The Group arranges trainings according to needs of
employees, which are identified annually by
individual departments. The group is considering to
establish a staff training profile record to identify
future training needs and recording of the training
hours.

Labour Standards

In compliance with the employment contract, the
Group’s regulations and policies, the Labour Law
and other related national laws of the PRC, there
was no child labour nor forced labour working in
the Group. The job application requirement
specifies that job applicants must be at least 18
years old. To ensure that job applicants can meet
the age requirement, identities of job applicants are
verified against their valid identity documents,
relevant permits and certificates. The human
resources department is required to carry out
background checks to authenticate information
provided by job applicants and is required to fill in
forms that confirm hired employees have met the
age requirement.

Besides internal monitoring process, contractors
are also subject to stringent requirement on the
Group's labour standard, no child labour and forced
labour can be tolerant in all the Group’s
development projects.

No non-compliance in relation to laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company regarding prevention of child and forced
labour was recorded during reporting period.

2. Operating Practices

BS5.

Supply Chain Management

As a property developer, the Group actively engage
with suppliers, contractors and sub-contractors on
construction projects. The Group recognise
contractors and suppliers are key stakeholders
within the supply chain. The Group has well
established tendering policy to select and manage
its supply chain. Potential suppliers are evaluated
in terms of its production capability and their track
record on environmental and social responsibility.
The Group endeavour to exert a positive influence
on our suppliers by working and communications.
To mitigate the supply chain risk, the Group
evaluate their performance regularly.
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Equipment or materials are purchased based on
specifications, quality and safety performance of
equipment, reputation, after-sales service and
delivery time of the supplier on construction
projects. The Group compares different suppliers to
select qualified suppliers (based on their product
specifications, product compliances, production
management, quality management and also
corporate social responsibility performances) before
the Group enters into contract with the qualified
suppliers.

Product Responsibility

Product Assurance and Recall

The Group sets high standards for ensuring
property development projects to deliver quality
product and services to the customers. Product
quality is controlled throughout the whole
construction process and ongoing management and
maintenance. Up to the date of this annual report,
the subsidiary of the Company, Chongging
Kingstone Land Co. Ltd* (EEE A B ER A7),
who is responsible of the Group’s property
development in Chongging, has obtained an award
of "2019F B+ KIFE L ME" for the quality
product delivered to the customers and consumers
subsequent to 31 March 2019.

There were no recalls nor complaints received
related to products provided during the reporting
period.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group has complied with laws and regulations
that related to the Patent Law of the PRC and the
Trademark Law of PRC. To protect third party
intellectual property rights and comply with
relevant licensing terms when software is used,
employees are prohibited from duplicating,
installing or using software in violation of its
copyright or license terms as part of the Group's
information security policy and staff handbook. Use
of free software products is stringently controlled;
and making copies of copyright works is strictly
prohibited.
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Customer Data Protection

The Group manages information in a systematic
approach. The Group has developed a policy on
customer data control and a procedure on control
of information assets. Employee handbook has
stated electronic communication system usage
policy to provide guideline on managing data and
information. The Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
in Hong Kong office is strictly complied. Sending of
private email is strictly prohibited during office
hour, all customer information should restricted
under the domain of the company email. All staff
are requested to logout their computer system and
close down their computer network after work.

To maintain network security, the Group has set up
firewalls, installed anti-virus software and
implemented interactive processing for password
verification. Robust support has been provided for
network and servers involved in major operations.
IT department has set restricted connections
between office and commercial networks to
prevent unauthorised data use, export and copy.

No non-compliance with laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group in relation
to customer data protection and privacy was
recorded during reporting period.

Product quality control

The Group exercise stringent control policies and
process on product quality throughout the entire
process from selection of project construction units
to pre-delivery final acceptance. The Group
exercise rigorous control on quality management to
ensure construction quality including material
control, equipment selection, sample quality testing,
acceptance of sample, hand-over approval process
during the construction working project.
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BS.

Anti-corruption

According to the Group’s anti-corruption policy, all
employees shall abide by the laws and regulations
of the PRC and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Cap. 21) of Hong Kong and shall not engage in any
illegal activities. Employees shall uphold the code of
ethics, advocate fair competition and act against
bribery according to the Group’'s procedure
manuals. The Group has set up an ant-corruption
committee to ensure the integrity and
accountability. Any bribery, fraud, money
laundering and embezzlement are prohibited.
Employees must not accept or request any
improper benefits including banquets, gifts,
securities, valuables and high-expenditure
entertainment activities from business partners,
suppliers and merchants, etc. The prohibition
against the provision of anything of value applies to
all clients, suppliers, and any person with whom
the Group does or anticipates doing business.
Employment opportunities must not be used as an
inducement to anyone to act improperly so as to
obtain or retain as advantage in business. The
Group prohibits bribery committed by third parties
acting on its behalf. The Group mandates
appropriate due diligence on all such third parties,
and the application of suitable contractual terms
and governance to reduce the risk of bribery. The
Group reserve the right to terminate its relationship
with an associated person who commits, or is
suspected to have committed bribery.

When there is any alleged case in violation of laws,
regulations, code of conduct or Group's policies,
the Group will investigate and impose disciplinary
actions upon offenders after verification.

The Group was in compliance with all applicable
laws on prohibiting corruption and bribery of the
PRC that have a significant impact on the Company
during the reporting period. There was no
concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees during
the reporting period.

community Investment

As a responsible social citizenship, the Group is
constantly aware of the importance to make
contribution to the community. The Group
committed to participates in community service
activities and assist the disadvantaged community.
Employees are encouraged to dedicate their time
and skills to support the civil society.

The English name is for identification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWRE

The directors (the “Director(s)”) of Man Sang International Limited
(the “Company”) herein present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year,
the Group is principally engaged in properties development and
investment which covers development, sales and leasing of
properties.

The principal activities of the Company’s major subsidiaries are set
out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by operating
segment is set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group's future business development are provided
in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 and 7 and Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 8 to 12 of this annual report.

The capital risk management and financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group are shown in notes 6 and 7 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the Financial
Highlights on page 4 of this annual report.

Discussion on the Group’s environmental issues and compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Company are contained in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 29 to 45 of this annual report.

The Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers and
suppliers and business associates that have a significant impact on
the Company and on which the Company’s success depends are
contained in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 29 to 45 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
EXEHRE

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 64 and 65 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2019.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 23 July 2019 to Friday, 26 July 2019 (both days inclusive),
for the purpose of determining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Friday, 26 July 2019 (the “2019 AGM"), during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the 2019 AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road
East, Hong Kong (with effect from 11 July 2019, the address will be
changed to Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong) not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 22 July 2019.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company does not have any distributable reserve in accordance
with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 as at 31
March 2019.

The distributable reserve calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 was HK$75,520,000
as at 31 March 2018.

Details of the distributable reserve are set out in note 40(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of
this annual report and in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Company during the year.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties under construction
and properties under development of the Group during the year are
set out in notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the four customers of the Group
together accounted for 100% (2018: 100%), with the largest customer
accounted for approximately 32% (2018: 27%) of the Group's total
revenue. The five largest suppliers/contractors of the Group together
accounted for 73% (2018 64%), with the largest supplier/contractor
accounted for 38% (2018: 21%) of the Group’s total purchases/
construction during the year.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, at no time during the year
did a Director, an associate of a Director or a shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group's five largest suppliers or customers.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on pages 166
and 167 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Xingrong (Chairman) (appointed on 2 May 2018)
Mr. Huang Xiaohai (appointed on 2 May 2018)

Mr. Jin Jianggui (appointed on 5 November 2018)

Mr. Li Zhenyu (appointed on 5 November 2018)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai, Elton (resigned on 3 April 2018)
Mr. Lei Hong Wai (resigned on 3 April 2018)

Ms. Cheng Ka Ki (resigned on 5 November 2018)

Mr. Leung Alex (resigned on 5 November 2018)

Mr. Yuan Huixia (resigned on 5 November 2018)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Pau Yee Ling (appointed on 5 November 2018)
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit (appointed on 5 November 2018)
Mr. Yuen Hoi Po (appointed on 5 November 2018)
Mr. Lai Hok Lim (resigned on 5 November 2018)

Mr. Lei Seng Fat (resigned on 5 November 2018)

Mr. Wong Tak Chuen (resigned on 5 November 2018)

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s bye-law, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire form office by rotation. Accordingly, Mr. Jin Jianggui, Mr.
Li Zhenyu, Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi
Po shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS” SERVICE AGREEMENT

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 13 to 14.

DIRECTOR’S MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company’s holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director of the Company and the Director’'s connected party
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company has
been entered into or existed during the year.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

The interests of the Directors of the Company in competing business
that were required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as informed by the relevant
Directors were as follows:

Mr. Hu Xingrong (an Executive Director and the Chairman of the
Ccompany) is the chairman and controlling shareholder of Doof
International Holding Group Company Limited* (% # BB EE A
R~ 7\]) ("Doof Group”), a company established in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC") which principally engaged in the
business of properties development in the PRC. The Company is an
investment holding company whose subsidiaries are principally
engaged in properties development which covers development, sales
and leasing of properties in the PRC. Therefore, the business of
properties development in the PRC engaged by Doof Group (the
"Excluded Business”) may be regarded as being potentially
competing (directly or indirectly) with the Group’s business, and Mr.
Hu Xingrong is regarded as being interested in the Excluded
Business.
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During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board regularly assessed
its business development plan regarding new property projects and/
or acquisitions of other land reserves in the PRC. As at 31 March
2019 and 2018, the gearing ratio of the Group were approximately 3
times and 1.9 times, respectively. In the light of the deleveraging
trend of property developers in the PRC and international trade
tensions affecting the market sentiment, the Board decided to take a
prudent approach in business expansion to avoid over-gearing. The
Company has no present intention to commit itself to excessive
capital requirements whether through acquisition of property assets
from Doof Group or joint development with Doof Group on any new
property projects, until and unless the gearing ratio of the Group is
restored to a reasonably low level. As such, the Board is of the view
that the risk of competition between the Group and Doof Group is
currently low.

When the gearing ratio of the Group is restored to a reasonably low
level, the Board will reassess the situation and considered the non-
competition arrangement with Doof Group, including the
implementation of geographical delineation, differentiation in terms of
business focus and/or the signing of non-competition undertakings.
Further announcement(s) will be made regarding such arrangements
as and when appropriate.

Apart from Mr. Hu Xingrong, Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui and
Mr. Li Zhenyu (all being Executive Directors of the Company) are vice
presidents of Doof Group. To the best knowledge of the Company
after making all reasonable enquiries, Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin
Jianggui and Mr. Li Zhenyu had no shareholding interest in Doof
Group. The Company was informed by Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin
Jianggui and Mr. Li Zhenyu that they were merely maintaining their
positions as vice presidents of Doof Group in a non-executive
nature.

The Group and the Excluded Business under Doof Group are
managed by separate companies with separate management and
administration. With the overseeing and supervision of the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company, the Board is
of the view that the Group should be capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the Excluded
Business of Doof Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Particulars of the Company’'s share option scheme which was
adopted on 17 August 2012 are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS” INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")),
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which the Directors have
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ); or (b)
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were set out
below:

(@) long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

REBRARAT I —B—HEER 51

EEBERCESER

201963 A31H » EFRARFHEAL(ATHE
BZEE(REFRBMEGHY((E5 KB E K
{51 1) EXVERR T EORE) 2B - AR K
BHETEEQRERZ M ERDIEXVEEH
TRESDMZREABMNARRNREEKS
RHMARAR (B (BREREREFR
HEGRIEBBRNESTREFLAEREZ
mloRkR) ¢+ HDIRIERE 7 K HIE 15158352
RABFAZIEPIFTHEE M HORE LT
RAM SR+ 2 EMETAEZETRESRS
RREST A ([R5 B AMEARNR A KRB
Rz s RORR BN -

@ RAXFAEBERZHER

Number of ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each held

FEAEEREEIETZEERYE
Percentage
of the issued
Deemed Total share capital of
Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest Direct interest interest interest the Company
RN
HR1E BRITRAE
EEns S,/ REMEE ERER BHED RS Bk
Mr. Hu Xingrong Interest in a controlled corporation — 1,161,893245  1,161,893,245 60.95%
(Note)
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Note: These shares were directly owned by China DaDi Group Limited
(“China DaDi"), which is 100% owned by Mr. Hu Xingrong.

(b) long positions in underlying shares of the Company
Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, none of the
Directors had, as at 31 March 2019, any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors have taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant
to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS” RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its
holding company, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2019, substantial shareholders’ interests and short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company, other
than the Directors, as recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:
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China DaDi Beneficial owner 1,161,893,245 — 1,161,893,245 60.95%
(Note)
FEK EmfEAA (PE)
Mr. Hu Xingrong Interest in a controlled corporation — 1,161,893,245 1,161,893,245 60.95%
(Note)
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Note: These Shares were directly owned by China DaDi, which is 100% owned
by Mr. Hu Xingrong.
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The interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Company has not
been notified of any person (other than the Director of the
Company) or entity had an interest or a short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules for securities transactions by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries with all the Directors, they have
confirmed compliance with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2019.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed
the independence of all the Independent Non-executive Directors
and is satisfied of their independence.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee, which comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company, has reviewed with the
management in conjunction with the auditor, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed the
internal control, risk management and financial reporting matters
including the review of audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Bye-law 166(1) of the Company'’s bye-laws, the Directors shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in
their respective offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attached to any of them. Such permitted indemnity provision is
currently in force and was in force throughout the year.

The Company has also taken out and maintained Directors’ and
officers” liability insurance policy throughout the vyear, which
indemnifies against costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities
that may be incurred by the Directors in the execution and
discharge of their duties.

REBBRARAT /| —E—NEER 53

LSRR ER -

B XX BEEI - H2019F3A31H © IRIEE
FREERMEIBIEREARRAATEELZ
ErofArEl 0 AR B ARERERA L (KRR
RIEEBRIN KERBRARTRG - HERD
REHFTFRAERIAR -

AR TAREETRERS 2 E
% &)

Mex+ a2 RETR - KAZRERFY
FFEEWRK  RERBNBE201943A318
L FEA—BBTRETAIMERERE

BUFPITESZ2BILEH

ARRIDEESEBUIFFATESTRELHR
AR EIBE L 0 FH 2 FRERER LK
EEgC A MEBBUIFNTERZB LY
7 WEMRETIEEL -

BERXEES
MARAZBBIUIENTESRAKR ZEZE
Bg HEBEHREZIMEEHAEER
Mz st ERI R ER - W AEREE « AR
BENVBEREEE  RERHASEHEZ
20193 A3NB I E 2 KB ZERE BB H
i‘% °

RFFRBERX

REBEARB ZERAAE 166G EFATH
ARBIZEERGMNESRHE BEREE
MALHRAGEERSAREELESS ZBAZF
FIERERTTR  FEX PRI ARNTH
RS SREBS M A REE LB AR ~ A
B BX BERAX  AERRLZRILE
EAEE L BEMNSHFEEREEFMAL
AREEEAZEMNRFATHEEE -6
AFFBEGRCERBAERALNEFAEN -

ARBAMNFACBEREREZTRERBE
AERR REERATRETERBBEA
REELZKA - BRA - BX - FAXXMAEREH
FE -



54 Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2019

Report of the Directors

EXEHRE

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2019
and up to the date of this annual report are set out below:

Name of Director

Mr. Hu Xingrong

Mr. Huang Xiaohai

Mr. Jin Jianggui

Mr. Li Zhenyu

Ms. Pau Yee Ling

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit

Mr. Yuen Hoi Po

Details of changes

Appointed as the Chairman, an Executive
Director and a member of the nomination
committee of the Company on 2 May 2018.

Re-designated from a member of the nomination
committee to the Chairman of the nomination
committee and appointed as a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company on 5
November 2018.

Appointed as an Executive Director and a
member of the remuneration committee of the
Company on 2 May 2018.

Appointed as a member of the nomination
committee of the Company on 5 November
2018.

Appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 5 November 2018.

Appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 5 November 2018.

Appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and the Chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of each of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the
Company on 5 November 2018.

Appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and the Chairman of the audit
committee and a member of each of the
nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company on 5 November
2018.

Appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of each of the
nomination committee, the audit committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company on
5 November 2018.
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Name of Director

Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wai, Elton

Mr. Lei Hong Wai

Ms. Cheng Ka Ki

Mr. Leung Alex

Mr. Yuan Huixia

Mr. Lai Hok Lim

Mr. Lei Seng Fat

Mr. Wong Tak
Chuen

Details of changes

Resigned as an Executive Director of the
Company on 3 April 2018.

Resigned as the Chairman and an Executive
Director and a member of each of the
remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company on 3 April 2018.

Resigned as an Executive Director and a
member of each of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company
on 5 November 2018.

Resigned as an Executive Director of the
Company on 5 November 2018.

Resigned as an Executive Director of the
Company on 5 November 2018.

Resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director and ceased to act as the Chairman of
the nomination committee and a member of
each of the audit committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company on 5
November 2018.

Resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director and ceased to act as the Chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of
each of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of the Company on 5 November
2018.

Resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director and ceased to act as the Chairman of
the audit committee and a member of each of
the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company on 5 November
2018.

The details and the profile of the newly appointed Directors are set
out in the Company’s announcements dated 2 May 2018 and 5

November 2018.

Save for information disclosed, there

is no other information

required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing

Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float during the year and up to the date of this
Directors’ Report under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 6 July 2017 and SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited has
been appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from 28
August 2017 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2019 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited who retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board

Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 June 2019

* The English name is for identification purpose only.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RS TR

ferkPFa
Shi ne‘ZOan

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MAN SANG INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F, Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Man Sang
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 165, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BAZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

AR ETE IR
FAREBASFHEREXRMZEXRAE  RR
BAFEGEMBBRIBEARRER LS
HeWEFERERERMEFERGA VR
KRHAERBETRE RMATSHILSE
SHREHREBZIER -

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of investment properties under construction

EEREBEWFZMEE

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and E2BESPERERNMIT20URERE 2 &

accounting policies on page 88.

The key audit matter
REETEE

i -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Bz &SR ERRSEIR

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of
investment properties under construction was
approximately HK$1,767,135,000, with a decrease in fair
value of approximately HK$30,438,000 recognised for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

M2019F3A31TH KR ENEZREEN A
1,767,135,000/ 7T * EREZ 201943 A31 H It FE R
A EER 2 #30,438,0007 7T ©

We have identified the valuation of investment
properties under construction as a key audit matter
because of their significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the involvement of significant
judgements and estimates made by the management of
the Company in assessing its fair value.
EREGREYBREMEBEARRTBAAEE
B BEAREEEBAFEHERHE R - HERMEH
EEREYMESR AEEETSEIE -

Our procedures were designed to challenge the
valuation process and reasonableness of the key
assumptions and estimates adopted in assessing the fair
value of investment properties under construction.
BPZRFDAEREERFURTEERREDEZ
AREEARAEZZERERGEFTCEEEME -

We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input data
used in the valuation with reference to the recent
market transacted prices and internal business plans,
together with market and other externally available
information.
BRMESZHBMBERZEBARABERE - ERT
S REMINSAIESER  LNERGBEMRBRE - £
ERBZRBABIBE AR -

We have also obtained understanding from
management of the Company on the latest
development plan and assessed if there is any material
delays and whether the Group had the relevant
resources to complete the project as expected.
BMIMERARRERETHRIOBEMSERTE - kT
EREGETMNERLER Uk EBEXERETEHEBER
LAIRTEHRSERCIA B o
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Assessment of net realisable value of properties under

development

REBEBRERLR / —Z2—NEFEFR

FERE RN TRRBE

Please refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and F2BGEAMEREXMF21IUARFENE 72 &

accounting policies on page 90.

The key audit matter
HEETEE

S -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMzE R ERRSEIR

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of properties
under development amounted to approximately
HK$501,289,000.

201993318 « ERF Y ZREEA) 4501,289,000
ABIT °

Management of the Company assessed the carrying
amount of properties under development according to
the net realisable value of properties under
development with reference to the valuation performed
by independent valuer, which involves significant degree
of judgements and estimates.

ERREEERBEE L(AEMETHEMSHNERTY
X2 ERFENGERPYECEERE ERFPRE
R AV RAGHET

We have identified the assessment of net realisable
value of properties under development as a key audit
matter because of their significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the involvement of significant
judgements and estimates made by the management of
the Company.

ERHGEVBEMEMEBEARIR BEATERE
ZERNHE KGR MRMEBERRYE AR F
BER AERESSE -

Our procedures were designed to challenge the
impairment review process and reasonableness of the
key assumption and estimates adopted in assessing the
net realisable value of properties under development.

Bz BFAEHAREENBERTHERTMEL
AERFERANBERBRIRGTNEAEREZREFM

We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input data
used in the assessment in estimating the net realisable
value, including estimating anticipated costs to
completion, selling expenses and selling prices with
reference to the global and local economic
developments, recent sales transactions of the Group
and other available market information.
BMEERGEENERFEMAR L TERZRBA
FECAEMN  BREMFEBRTHKE HERIRE
B WRE2RERAMKERR BESEBEREHEER
S REMAIBSTHER -

We have also obtained understanding from the
management of the Company on the latest
development plan and assessed if there is any material
delays and whether the Group had the relevant
resources to complete the project as expected.
BZMMER BEARETEETHOHMBERETS X
FEEEELMNERLER Uk BEE£ERSEHEBE
TRIATETREASERCIA B o



Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2019

Independent Auditor’s Report
BAZBERE

Impairment of construction in progress and prepaid

lease payments

Please refer to notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial

statements and accounting policies on pages 89 and 90.

The key audit matter
REETEE

EEIRERANHEERRREE

B2HEA VB RRME2M23A K% E89 K
0HE Z &K °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Bz Et R EERSEIR

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amounts of
construction in progress included in the property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments amounted
to approximately HK$658,345,000 and HK$264,479,000
respectively.

MR2019F3A318 ' 5T AME MERSHE I EEIRER
FEREEREZERE S 54 A658,345,000/% 7T &
264,479,0007 T ©

Management of the Company assessed the impairment
of carrying amount of construction in progress included
in the property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments according to the recoverable amounts of
construction in progress included in the property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments with
reference to the valuation performed by independent
valuer, which involves significant degree of judgements
and estimates.

ERRBEEEDREBTAYE BERIEARENA
ENZMEEZER KBS WREBL(HEMETT
W RREHE XA REE - A AT AYE - BE

FEARENEEN RN ERERNREAERE

We have identified the impairment of construction in
progress included in the property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments as a key audit matter
because of their significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the involvement of a significant
degree of judgements and estimates made by the
management of the Company in assessing the
recoverable amounts.

EREGEEHEHREMSBEARRTHATKE S
B EAREEEEMERERHE RMER  HEMEH
ERIRGIAYE  BERZE) RENHEERBRE
BRI mERETEE -

Our procedures were designed to challenge the
impairment review process and reasonableness of the
key assumption and estimates adopted in assessing the
recoverable amount of construction in progress included
in the property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments.
BMHMEFEEEARESRBERNGTAYE  BE
MEEUARFEMEEN RN ERER W E S ER KA
R EEREERGTHNEERE -

We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input data
used in the assessment in determining the recoverable
amounts by reference to the external and internal
source of information.
BMEERR2ZE NI KA EE FRRE T Al Bl & 58 Fr
ERARZE FEBRRBAZSEB 2SR -

We have also obtained understanding from the
management of the Company on the latest
development plan and assessed if there is any material
delays and whether the Group had the relevant
resources to complete the project as expected.
BZMMER BERRERETHRAOMAMISERTE - &
FERETETMNEARAER Uk EXEELEHEE
TRIAIETEEASERCIE B o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
concluded that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors of the Company and Those
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
and our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
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do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the Company's directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: P06623

Hong Kong
12 June 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

2019 2018
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FExT FHT
Continuing operation BEKSEXRK
Revenue ON 8 156,721 23,188
Cost of sales 55 A AR (96,488) (15,990)
Gross profit EF 60,233 7,198
Other income and gains, net E A ROF U as 10 435 1,981
Increase in fair value of financial asset at R AR BEABIFZ
fair value through profit or loss CRMEEARERE
o 7,520 =
Selling expenses HER X (7,627) (5,606)
Administrative expenses THRAX (42,487) (50,417)
(Decrease) increase in fair value of EERBEYMEAREE
investment properties under ORL ) 120
construction (30,438) 54,133
Finance income B 75 W 2 1 37 29,378
Finance costs B 75 B AN 11 (83,005) (123,713)
Loss before tax B 156 Al 5 18 12 (95,332) (87,046)
Income tax expenses FiBHimAx 13 (33,991) (22,626)
Loss for the year from continuing FEBIKEEBZFNA
operation BB (129,323) (109,672)
Discontinued operation BRI
Profit for the year from discontinued ERIEETS 2 F R T
operation 14 — 16,478
Loss for the year FANEE (129,323) (93,194)
(Loss) profit attributable to equity holders — ZN/A &A% 5 fE(h
of the Company (E518) & 7
— from continuing operation — BEREER (129,323) (109,672)
— from discontinued operation — BERIEEK — 17,022
(129,323) (92,650)
Loss attributable to non-controlling B4R IE BB IR
interests from discontinued operation e EhEE — (544)
Loss for the year FRNEE (129,323) (93,194)
LOSS PER SHARE BRER 17
From continuing and discontinued FEEEEBRERIE
operations Ed
— basic and diluted (HK cents) — HARREE (B) (6.78) (4.86)
From continuing operation FHEEEET
— basic and diluted (HK cents) — EAREE OB (6.78) (5.75)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBRERkHEMAZEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE

2019 2018
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B FTExT T
Loss for the year FNEE (129,323) (93,194)
Other comprehensive (loss) income His2H (B1R) k&
ltems that may be reclassified HE gt B 7 H 218
subsequently to profit or 10Ss: @mZIHEA -
Exchange differences on translation of RMEFINEBZER
foreign operations =8 (120,236) 174,006
Release of translation reserve upon HEWB QR RER 2
disposal of subsidiaries b 5 39 — (28,860)
Other comprehensive (loss) income FAEMEE (BE)
for the year & (120,236) 145,146
Total comprehensive (loss) income FAEME (EE) ks
for the year ek (249,559) 51,952
Total comprehensive (loss) income EFTEEERAZE
for the year attributable to: (E518) a8 58
— equity holders of the Company — ARAIIKE (249,559) 36,920
— non-controlling interests — FEIERR R — 15,032
(249,559) 51,952
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BN K

As at 31 March 2019 7201943 A31H

2019 2018
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Ff 5 FTHEx FHAIT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment properties under ERREME
construction 20 1,767,135 1,791,701
Property, plant and equipment W - BB KRG 22 661,090 581,236
Prepayment SEARE ] 25 — 523
Prepaid lease payments JEH A E F0E 23 264,479 290,143
Financial asset at fair value through BAREBEFAER
profit or loss ZEeREE 24 9,925 —
2,702,629 2,663,603
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development BREPYE 21 501,289 563,560
Deposits, prepayments and other e  BARER
receivables L i W BR 3K 25 47,428 29,626
Cash and cash equivalents HeMERRE 26 163,248 55,431
711,965 648,617
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals and other payables FEETERA K
H th J& 151 BR 3K 27 178,478 212,835
Amount due to a related company FEAST RE A A 28 1,305 =
Current income tax liabilities EHFMEHAR 118,359 81,624
Other borrowings HMEE 29 73,030 121,906
371,172 416,365
Net current assets RBEERE 340,793 232,252
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERARBES 3,043,422 2,895,855




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mRE BRI T

As at 31 March 2019 7201943 A431H

RABMERAR =T hEEHR

2019 2018
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FE T T T
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFBHEE 32 7,336 15,967
Promissory notes AR 30 917,827 855,587
Other borrowings B s 29 936,000 1,000,000
Unsecured borrowings from EEERHEER
a director 31 407,517 —
2,268,680 1,871,554
Net assets BEEFE 774,742 1,024,301
Capital and reserves BEXRf#E
Share capital [ 33 190,617 190,617
Reserves f# 584,125 833,684
Total equity HRE 774,742 1,024,301

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 165 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 12
June 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

FOAE65E TS AR & I TSR E R 20196
ANRBEESeH ENRETZE  THUAT
ATREERE

Hu Xingrong Li Zhenyu
(S FiRTF
Director Director

EFE EZE
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

B ian sang international Limited / Annual Report 2019
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AARRREN
Property Non-
Share Share revaluation Translation ~ Statutory  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
MEER FER
RE  ROEE wE EXfE ETRE KROEA @t £ @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER TEx THER THER TR TR TR
(Note)
(B =E)
Balance at 1 April 2017 R2017F4 18 2 84 190,617 446,244 18,029 (55,559) 15,812 372,238 987,381 141,386 1,128,767
Loss for the year FAREE — — — — — (92,6500  (92,650) (544) (93,194
Other comprehensive income Hibv2Eas (B8):
(I0ss):
Exchange differences on BEBMEBLER
translation of foreign =8
operations — — — 158430 — — 158,430 15,576 174,006
Release of translation reserve HERBARREEZ
upon disposal of B 1 1 (P E39)
subsidiaries (note 39) — - — (28,860) — — (28,860) - (28,860)
Total comprehensive income FRzENE (BB 88
(loss) for the year — - — 129570 — (92,650) 36,920 15,032 51,952
Transfer to statutory reserve BRELTRE — — — — 128 (128) - — —
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39)  tH&KIE AR (KizE39) — - (18,029) — (15,940) 33,969 —  (156,418)  (156,418)
Balance at 31 March 2018 and #2018 3A318 Kk
1 April 2019 2019F4B18 2 8 190,617 446,244 — 74,011 — 313429 1,024,301 — 1,024,301
Loss for the year FREE — — — — —  (129,323)  (129,323) —  (129,323)
Other comprehensive l0ss: Hit2mEER
Exchange differences on BEBMEBER
translation of foreign =8
operations — - —  (120,236) — — (120,236 —  (120,236)
Total comprehensive loss FRZABELE
for the year - — — (120,236 —  (129,323)  (249,559) — (249,559
Balance at 31 March 2019 R2019F3 /318 2 &8 190,617 446,244 — (46,225) — 184,106 774,742 — 774742

FizE - RIBPEARKLME ([HE D EERR -
R B2 A RARE TAE BRI
B YRERESE OREMBREME
AR B EF 2B RR RMBRD K
AT PR R E R BRI ER R
37 o BN ARG E10%EE AMBEIEE
fffl - ERROEERBAEBLEEIME
A50%HF + A F AIE LG o SR EREHER
RRERTEARER  EATERRILE
EHIIENFERABER - I - FEAH
REBEEEES 2RABRRDBANMEE
AR — PR

Note: Under the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") laws and regulations,
companies registered in the PRC are required to provide for certain
statutory reserve, which are to be appropriated from the net profit
(after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years and before profit
distribution to equity holders) as reported in their respective statutory
financial statements. The statutory reserve is created for specific
purposes. The PRC companies are required to appropriate 10% of their
statutory net profits to statutory reserve. A company may discontinue
its contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory reserve is
more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory reserve shall
only be used to make up losses of the PRC companies, to expand the
PRC companies’ production operations, or to increase the capital of
the PRC companies. In addition, the PRC companies may make further
contribution to the statutory reserve using its net profits in accordance
with resolutions of the board of directors of the PRC companies.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT T T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Loss before tax BR 7% Al 5 18 (95,332) (76,699)
Adjustments for: BTAFIBEL 2 %
Finance income R TN (37) (31,327)
Finance costs BE TS B AR 83,005 123,713
Gain on waiver of interest payables BT B 2 s — (1,979)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMNB ARz e — (18,072)
Loss on write-offs of property, plant and — His§¥ % - BE K& E 2 E1E
equipment 284 —
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEMEETE
equipment 747 331
Increase in fair value of financial asset BEAREBEFTABZ M
at fair value through profit or loss BERNEEEN (7,520) —
Decrease (increase) in fair value of REMHERITEZEY
investment properties and investment AR EERD (EN) FE
properties under construction, net 30,438 (22,192)

Operating cash flows before movements “EB&ESEHMKELRERE

in working capital 11,585 (26,225)
Decrease in completed properties held BERE 2R T YRR D

for sale 95,547 33,877
Increase in properties under development & & F 4 5 12 A (51,094) (86,223)
(Increase) decrease in deposits, e BNFKER

prepayments and other receivables H At e W AR 3 (38 0n) IR > (19,011) 12,705
Decrease in accruals and other payables — f&&t8R 3k & H th & 45 BR UL (23,631) (18,551)
Cash generated from (used in) operations A& HEMKELA (EH) 2B E 13,396 (84,417)
Tax paid B HIE — (6,545)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) R&XEEL (£H) 2B E&FE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 13,396 (90,962)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HERERERX
For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  WE KR

equipment (85,758) (86,427)
Payment for investment properties under SfTHERIREWE

construction (67,376) (75,452)
Refund from acquisition of subsidiaries BB B A R Z B — 400,000
Purchase of financial asset at fair value  BEER AL BETAERR

through profit or loss ZEREE (2,320) =
Net cash inflows upon disposal of LENBARZEERAFEE

subsidiaries (note 39) (FF3E39) — 238,145
Interest received 2 AR 37 31,327
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM REZEE (A EEZRSFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES (155,417) 507,593
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 7l E B
Repayment to Mr. Tsoi Tung (“Mr. Tsoi”) B FEM 4 ([55E4]) — (51,839)
Advanced from companies under control 2R B %256 A FriE 4l A Al 2 B3R

by Mr. Tsoi — 136,491
Repayment to companies under control of & F £% % & Fri2 %A &

Mr. Tsoi — (225,142)
New other borrowings raised MESEMEE 49,260 1,162,556
Interests paid B F A (71,299) (118,864)
Advanced from a related company RE—EREERQRMBR 1,305 —
New unsecured borrowings from a TESESEEREE

director raised 391,214 —
Repayment of bank and other borrowings (EERT R EMEE (121,075) (1,519,111)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) BEFBEL (FH) 2B FE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 249,405 (615,909)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH RERERBSEMRD) B8

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 107,384 (199,278)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE £#HzBE&¢RZEFRE

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 55,431 242,047
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EXRE B2 433 12,662
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZAEREZERRS (MH7126)

AT THE END OF THE YEAR (note 26) 163,248 55,431
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended). The addresses of its registered office and its
principal place of business are Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and Unit 1804, 18/F., Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, respectively.
The immediate holding company and the ultimate controlling
party of the Company is China DaDi Group Limited, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), and Mr. Hu
Xingrong (“Mr. Hu"), the chairman and the executive director of
the Company, respectively.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are currently engaged in the development, sales
and leasing of properties. Details of the principal subsidiaries
of the Company are set out in note 41.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group reported net
loss of approximately HK$129,323,000. As at 31 March 2019,
the Group had other borrowings of approximately
HK$73,030,000 due within one year. As at the same date, the
Group also had capital commitment of approximately
HK$125,937,000 (note 35(a)), while its net current assets and
cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$340,793,000 and HK$163,248,000, respectively.

— & R

REBBEARAR ([AQF]]) ZIRER
REQBIFERREN ISR ) EARE
At BEREEREME AR - HiF
MREEREEEEMB DRI A
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda & &8 B 7%
1658 =R RN 181804 E « ANA A
BEZERARRREES A B KH
SEERAR ERABEZHS (&
BRZES]) M mABESE A
([FASEE]D) BERRBERRAITES -

ARABRDREBEEHERZPABERAF]
(T F]) ERET

AR REMBAR (SREIAEE]) R
EREEMERER  HERHEE -FHEAX
REAETEMBAR ZFBEHNMEL

RFaMBHRRARR B 2N EEE
(&) FIE -

REMBBRR2EREE

HE2019F3A3MBILFE - AEEH
BB 18 %58 49129,323,00058 7T © 52019
F3IA3MA AEBZHEHMEERY
73,030,000/8 T i — F A E| 8 - A [F
B - REBE A B RN EAHEH 125,937,000
BT (F17E35()) - MmERENE EIFE A
BEekERBLAUD NN AE
340,793,000/ 7t K 163,248,000 JT °
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RE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=2019F3A31H LFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

In view of the above, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections covering a period
of twelve months from 31 March 2019 which have taken into
account the following measures:

(1) Chongaing Kingstone Land Co., Lid.* (EEEA BB R
A \]) (“Chongging Kingstone”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, has commenced the sales of
the properties from the year ended 31 March 2017 which
is expected to continue to generate operating cash
inflows to the Group;

(2)  During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group obtained
unsecured revolving loan facilities from Mr. Hu, with
financial support from a company controlled by Mr. Hu,
in the amounts of (i) RMB500,000,000, equivalent to
HK$585,000,000, carrying an interest rate of 9% per
annum and will mature on 31 May 2020; and (i)
HK$100,000,000, carrying an interest rate of 8% per
annum and will mature on 6 July 2021. As at 31 March
2019, RMB294,150,000, equivalent to approximately
HK$344,156,000, and HK$50,000,000 were utilised by the
Group respectively and remaining total undrawn facilities
of approximately HK$290,844,000. Subsequent to the end
of the reporting period, RMB167,600,000, equivalent to
HK$196,092,000, were drawn down by the Group; and

(3  The Company will not early redeem any promissory notes
or repay any borrowings before the maturity date until
the Group is in a financial position to do so.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
fulfill its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the
coming twelve months from 31 March 2019. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare these consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

& The English name is for identification purpose only

mEMBHRR 2 EUEE (F)

ERLRBER - ARABEFCERAE
B R 220193 A31 A 5T+ =18 A &
MeREeRERD  EFCERUTE

I8 :

M

ARARZHAEZEMNBRRAERE
ELHEHARARTEEEA)
B# £2017F3A3MA LFE
FERMEEERY UEARKE
RAEBTEREERERA

HE2019F3A31BIEEE K
EEEMACERGERBERE
HEE  mEHEEEHNA
AR MRS - S REFI)A
R #500,000,0007C (18 & %
585,000,0007% 7T) * & F EK[E
I #EH 2020465 A31 B 2 E ¢ K (i)
100,000,000/ » FHIRSE - I
15 18202147 A6 H B 8 - 122019
F3A3MH  AEBESRIEBAA
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ERERBER NRRAREERR A&
BRERHMEEESEITHB201943
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time,
the following new and amendments to HKFRSs, which include
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”), and
interpretations (“Int(s)”), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA").

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and related
Amendments
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Ccontracts

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers have
been summarised below. The application of other new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosure set out in these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 replaced the provision of HKAS 39 that relate to the
recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. The
Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to financial
instruments that have not been derecognised at the date of
initial application (i.e. 1 April 2018) in accordance with the
transition provisions under HKFRS 9, and chosen not to restate
comparative information.

REBEBRERLR / —Z2—NEFEFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

3.

The Group's accounting policies for the classification and
measurement of financial instruments and the impairment of
financial assets are disclosed in detail in note 4 below.

@

(i)

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed the
Group's existing financial assets and financial liabilities as
at 1 April 2018 based on the facts and circumstances
that existed at that date and concluded that all
recongised financial assets and financial liabilities that are
within the scope of HKFRS 9 are continued to measure at
amortised cost as were previously measured under HKAS
39. The financial assets of the Group are deposits and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents which
are classified as loan and receivables under HKAS 39.
They are classified as financial assets at amortised cost
as at adoption of HKFRS 9.

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”)

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has changed the Group's
accounting for impairment losses for financial assets by
replacing HKAS 39's incurred loss model with a forward-
looking ECL approach. As at 1 April 2018, the directors of
the Company reviewed and assessed the Group’s
existing financial assets for impairment using reasonable
and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort in accordance with the requirement
of HKFRS 9.

It is concluded that, as at 1 April 2018, no additional
credit loss allowance has been recognised against
retained profits as the estimated allowance under the
ECL model were not significantly different to the
impairment losses previously recognised under HKAS 39.

3.
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FREMBHRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 11 Construction Contracts, HKAS
18 Revenue and related Ints and it applies to all revenue
arising from contracts with customers, unless those contracts
are in the scope of other standards. The new standard
established a five-step model for determining whether, how
much and when revenue is recognised. The Group has elected
to adopt the modified retrospective approach for contracts
with customers that are not completed as at the date of initial
application (i.e. 1 April 2018) with the cumulative effect of
initially applying HKFRS 15 as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits and comparative information is not
restated.

The Group's accounting policies for its revenue streams are
disclosed in detail in note 4 below.

There was no impact of transition to HKFRS 15 on the retained
profits as at 1 April 2018.

3.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases’

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle!
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to Definition of
Material?

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates

P 37T R ASAE 3T B OB B IS 3R
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HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

and Joint Ventures'
Uncertainty over Income tax
Treatments’

28R ERIAR ERZEDER
T (BRME AEREERTAZ
TREZE THBERER

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

® Effective for business combinations and assets acquisitions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
results and the financial position of the Group.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the
financial statements of both lessors and lessees.

In respect of the lessee accounting, the standard introduces a
single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with the lease term of more
than 12 months, unless the underlying asset has a low value.

At the commencement date of the lease, the lessee is
required to recognise a right-of-use asset at cost, which
consists of the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability, plus any lease payments made to the lessor at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received, the initial estimate of restoration costs and any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee. A lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. Lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payment made, and remeasuring the carrying amount to
reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments. Depreciation and
impairment expenses, if any, on the right-of-use asset will be
charged to profit or loss following the requirements of HKAS
16 Property, Plant and Equipment, while interest accrual on
lease liability will be charged to profit or loss.

3.
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3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17
Leases. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as
operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those
two types of leases differently.

HKFRS 16 will supersede the current lease standards including
HKAS 17 Leases and the related Ints when it becomes
effective.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of approximately HK$5,623,000 as
disclosed in note 35(b). A preliminary assessment indicates
that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease
under HKFRS 16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these
leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases
upon the application of HKFRS 16. In addition, the application
of new requirements may result changes in the measurement,
presentation and disclosure as indicated above. The directors
of the Company determine the amounts of right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$269,713,000 and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$5,066,000 to be recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position, after taking into
account all practical expedients and recognition exemption
under HKFRS 16. The directors of the Company expect that the
adoption of HKFRS 16 will not have material impact on the
Group's result but certain portion of these lease commitments
will be required to be recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for investment properties
under construction and financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL"), which are measured at fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date under current market
condition (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Group. If a subsidiary prepares its financial statements using
accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are
made to that subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group's
returns.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control of the subsidiary and cease when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the equity holders of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i)
derecognises the assets (including goodwill, if any) and
liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date
when control is lost; (ii) derecognises the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interests in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost (including any components of other
comprehensive income attributable to them); and (iii)
recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest, with any
resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in profit
or loss attributable to the Group. When assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets and liabilities (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained
profits as specified by applicable HKFRSS).
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 March 2019 (with
application of HKFRS 15)

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same. For
contracts that contain more than one performance obligation,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o The Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created and
enhanced; or

o The Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 March 2019 (with
application of HKFRS 15) (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on
behalf of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of properties in the PRC is recognised at a
point in time when the control of the property is transferred to
the customer, generally when the customer obtains the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed property
and the Group has present right to payment and the collection
of the consideration is probable.

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 March 2018

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for sale of properties and services
rendered in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 March 2018
(Continued)

Revenue from sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised when the risks
and rewards related to the properties are transferred to
purchasers, which is when the construction of relevant
properties has been completed at the discretion of the
purchasers, title to the properties has been delivered to the
purchasers and collectability of related receivables is
reasonably assured. Revenue is recognised only to the extent
collectability of such receivable is reasonably assured.

Revenue from leasing of investment properties
Rental income under operating leases is recognised in the
period in which the properties are let out and on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Property management income
Property management income is recognised when the services
are rendered.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

REBEBRERLR / —Z2—NEFEFR

FESEHEEER (8)

BREBA (&)

HEAR2018F3A31 H L FEMBER
(#)

HEYFEZ WA
HEMENPRAEYENRER & ERD
BREEERE  MHEBYENRIEE
BEOBBRECK R EMBED RN
TEXRAABERERRO A WEEES
IBIRE R R o WA ZIZH B YR
BRI E B A BB IRE IR E R -

HEREYRZ WA
REHEBRTHSWARDERHER
HEEERRANIZEREER -

YFEIEWA
YMEBEERWRARIRH AR SR -

.8 M a5

T REE 2N B YR I R R L AR -
2ERABENSBIERBRN X
8 BRERMNXES G BRMABR
TREMEERFFHUREEERE
FER X -

HE

EHE RIS E R XD R &E
MEREAAAR  ZERESEAR
EHE -EHMEAES T EALEH

=5 o



Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2019

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=2019F3A31H LFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between land and building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as prepaid lease payments
in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except
for those that are classified and accounted for as investment
properties or investment properties under construction under
the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements, the
entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the vyear.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to the non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to equity
holders of the Company are reclassified to profit or 10ss.

Fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising
on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to defined contribution plans including state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries and annual leave in the period
the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of their assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties and investment
properties under construction that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment properties under construction are depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties under construction over time, rather
than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets for such investment
properties under construction are measured in accordance
with the general principles above set out in HKAS 12 (i.e.
based on the expected manner as to how the property will be
recovered).

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties under construction

Investment properties under construction are properties held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment
properties under construction include land held for
undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for capital
appreciation purpose.

Investment properties under construction are initially measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties under
construction are measured at their fair values. Gains or loss
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties
under construction are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

Cconstruction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property under construction is derecognised
upon disposal or when the investment property under
construction is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the investment property under
construction (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
investment property is derecognised.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress as described below, are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production of
services are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs and amortisation of prepaid lease payments
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or l0ss.

Buildings under development for future owner-occupied
purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for
production or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of
prepaid lease payments provided during the construction
period is included as part of cost of buildings under
construction.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments represent up-front payments to
acquire land use rights under operating lease arrangement and
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated amortisation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties under development

Properties that are being constructed or developed for future
use as held-for-sales are classified as properties under
development and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses and the
anticipated costs to completion, or by management estimates
based on prevailing marketing conditions.

Development cost of property comprises construction costs,
borrowing costs capitalised and professional fees incurred
during the development period. On completion, the properties
under development are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
when the construction of the relevant properties commences.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises development costs attributable
to the unsold properties. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the sale proceeds of properties sold in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses, or by management estimates based on prevailing
marketing conditions.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash at banks and on hand, banks deposits
with an original maturity of three months or less.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss, if any.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair values. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair values of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding the ECL,
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of
the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the “Finance income” line item (note 11).
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are measured at FVTPL.
Specifically:

o Investments in equity instruments are classified as at
FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity investment
that is neither held for trading nor a contingent
consideration arising from a business combination as at
FVTOCI on initial recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet amortised cost criteria
or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a
designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “increase
in fair value of financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss” line item. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 7(c).
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

For all the financial instruments, including deposits and other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular debtor, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent
to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less
than its amortised cost;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’'s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) the
financial instrument has a low risk of default; (ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term; and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with
the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’.
Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial
position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either
of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or

o information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 180 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 April 2018)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. All regular way of purchase or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way of purchases and sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 April 2018) (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including deposits, other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at
the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as deposit and
other receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period, observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 April 2018) (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of deposits and other receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When a deposit or
other receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including accruals and other payables, other
borrowings and promissory notes, are subsequently measured
at the amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 April 2018) (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’'s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

REBBERAR / —E-NEFFR

23X (&)

@I A (&)

BREFBEFELFEI9 CGEAN2018
F4818 2581 (&)
cHEEKER T A (E)

B A EE
E-\&;‘-’r%ﬂwii%”r“%mﬂiéj,aZﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ)ZZK
MR BBEBBRESF SR ZHE -
RREAEIMREBARE z%ﬁﬂriﬂﬁ
s (FE ) BUS AR - HET R RIB S
(BRSO sk W BR I 18 AR & B ) ==
HRBOZEEARIE  XPKA
MEMEESITE) EVTHEREZR
EFEZFE -

MEFRIREREN R EEEDR -

E 88
EREERSREZ A KENERE -
SEECRMEEAREEMBRERBA
BoERROBEETS—BRE 5
SEUEEREMEE -

EeEUERReREER  BEREE
HBE WK EWRERRE 2 =N Bk

uZ,J\O

REBMERES E?I%ﬁ A EER
HASEUERRERMAE - TEUHER
iraﬂié\tazﬁﬁﬁfﬁiﬁi H&r’é‘ﬁwﬁfﬁ
2R EBRER



Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2019

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=2019F3A31H LFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets (except for investment
properties under construction and properties under
development) to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or 10ss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for net realisable value of
properties under development, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics
of inputs, as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 — Valuation technigue for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3 — Valuation technigue for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying the accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumption involves
making judgements by the directors of the Company, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of events
and conditions which are inherently uncertain. The directors of
the Company believe that the liquidity of the Group can be
maintained in the coming twelve-month period from 31 March
2019 after taking into the considerations as detailed in note 2.
The directors of the Company also believe that the Group will
have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working
capital and other financing requirements for the next twelve
months from 31 March 2019.

Deferred taxation on investment properties under construction

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties under
construction that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group's
investment properties under construction and concluded that
the Group's investment properties under construction are held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties under construction over time, rather
than through sale. In measuring the Group’s deferred taxation
on such investment properties under construction, the
directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair values of investment properties under construction

Investment properties under construction are stated at fair
values in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. The
fair values of investment properties under construction as at
31 March 2019 and 2018 are determined by independent
professional valuers, CHFT Advisory and Appraisals Limited
("CHFT") and APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited
("APAC"), respectively, and the fair values of investment
properties under construction are set out in notes 20
respectively. Such valuations were based on certain
assumptions and estimations, which were subject to
uncertainties and might materially differ from actual results.

In making these assumptions and estimations, reasonable
consideration has been given to the underlying assumptions
based on market conditions existing at the end of the
reporting period. These estimates are regularly compared to
available market information for similar type of properties in
nearby locations.

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of investment
properties under construction is approximately
HK$1,767,135,000 (2018: HK$1,791,701,000) with the decrease
in fair value of approximately HK$30,438,000 (2018: increase in
fair values of approximately HK$54,133,000 resulting from the
continuing operation).
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and
other deductible differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. At 31 March 2019, deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$7,520,000 (2018: nil). No deferred
tax assets has been recognised in respect of remaining tax
losses of approximately HK$72,144,000 (2018: HK$107,974,000)
and other deductible temporary difference of approximately
HK$118,359,000 (2018: HK$81,624,000). The aggregate
unrecognised estimated unused tax losses and other
deductible temporary differences at 31 March 2019 was
approximately HK$227,063,000 (2018: HK$226,158,000). Further
details are set out in note 32.

Impairment of construction in progress and prepaid lease
payments

At the end of the reporting period, the management of the
Group reviews the carrying amounts of the construction in
progress and prepaid lease payments of approximately
HK$658,345,000 (2018: HK$578,692,000) and HK$264,479,000
(2018: HK$290,143,000) respectively and identified if there is
any indication for possible impairment. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. In
assessing whether there is any indication of possible
impairment for the construction in progress and prepaid lease
payments, the Group has considered the recoverable amounts
with reference to the valuation performed by independent
valuer. The directors of the Company were not aware of any
indication of possible impairment in relation to construction in
progress and prepaid lease payments as at 31 Mach 2019 and
2018. No impairment loss has been recognised in respect of
construction in progress and prepaid lease payments for the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Net realisable value of properties under development

The management of the Group performs a review at each
reporting period on the carrying amounts of properties under
development. Based on the review from the management of
the Group, write-down of properties under development will be
made when the estimated net realisable value has declined
below their carrying amounts. In determining the net realisable
value of properties under development, the management of the
Group based on the recent global and local economic
developments, recent sales transactions of the Group and
other similar properties in the surrounding areas, marketability
of the Group’s existing properties, fair value valuation
performed by independent property valuer, internally available
information and management’s expectation on future selling
price.

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of the properties
under development is approximately HK$501,289,000 (2018:
HK$563,560,000). No write-down of properties under
development was recognised during the years ended 31 March
2019 and 2018.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
The PRC land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to the PRC land appreciation tax in
accordance with the relevant rules and regulations. However,
the implementation and settlement of the tax varies among
various tax jurisdictions in cities of the PRC, and the Group has
made provision for such expenses but has not finalised its PRC
land appreciation tax calculation and payment with any local
tax authorities in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the PRC land
appreciation tax included in the income tax expenses from
continuing operation is approximately HK$41,600,000 (2018:
HK$9,093,000).

Fair value measurement of financial asset at FVTPL

The Group's investment in unlisted equity securities in the PRC
are classified as financial asset at FVTPL and measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of the financial asset at FVTPL are determined
by independent professional valuer, CHFT. Such valuation was
based on certain assumptions and estimates with the use of
valuation technigues including available market information and
other unobservable market data as detailed in note 7(c).

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of the financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss is approximately
HK$9,925,000 (2018: nil), with increase in fair value of
approximately HK$7,520,000 (2018: nil) for the year ended 31
March 2019.
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6.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's objectives when managing its capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order to maximise the returns to its shareholders and benefits
to other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes other borrowings, promissory notes and unsecured
borrowings from a director as disclosed in notes 29, 30 and 31
respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the drawn down of unsecured
borrowings from a director, repayment of other borrowings,
adjustment of dividend to shareholders, as well as new share
issues and share buy-backs.

Besides, the Group monitors capital structure on the basis of
gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as total
borrowings divided by total equity. Total borrowings included
other borrowings (both current and non-current), promissory
notes and unsecured borrowings from a director. The
strategies remained unchanged from prior year.

REBEBRERLR / —Z2—NEFEFR

EXERER
AEFEEAER BN ABRASEES
BENFEKE  UESEMEREZE
MEABEMBFEOESR S W
EIEE RNEE LRI E R A o

AEBZERNGEHBERFEF DRI
WERMIEE29 - 303N Z EMEE AR
EAERREZEAREE RehF
RBRSFEUARARBBRRELER
(BROETRARMERE)

ARAEENFFREERIENE
B R 8D ARREFER
BARZERARG—HEAKHEZER -
REARRESMNEEBERL  AKEHS
BRREDREEERMER  EEEME
5 ABRREZREARBEITHRG R
BEBROAFEEEEEREE -

AN AREREAARLRERER
i BEABHLENBEERIAERE
HAtE BEREBSEEMEE (BIH
K IEBDER) DA R A K R e B SR A R
fEE - REFEEFAALL A |EE -



112 Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2019

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6.
The gearing ratios as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 are as

BEXEMER (&)
20194F 20183 A3MB 2 EARE &L

follows: EHFHYIWT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Other borrowings (note 29) HEiEE (M5E29) 1,009,030 1,121,906
Promissory notes (note 30) # E R (HF5E30) 917,827 855,587
Unsecured borrowings from a director E=EETEE (MFE31)

(note 31) 407,517 —
Total debts RIETE 2,334,374 1,977,493
Total equity B 774,742 1,024,301
Gearing ratio BEREELE X 301.3% 193.1%

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. BERRKRER
(a) Categories of financial instruments @ =MITEAEEH
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FETT
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HEHENAGTEZ
TREE 194,053 —
Loans and receivables (including ERRERER (BIESE
cash and cash equivalents) e RERRD) — 84,440
Financial asset at FVTPL BARBETABRZ
SREE
— Unlisted equity instrument at — RBAREBEFARR
FVTPL ZARETHEZTA 9,925 —
203,978 84,440
Financial liabilities EHas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  R#k 4R AT & 2
THEaE 2,514,157 2,190,328
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

7.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include deposits
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
accruals and other payables, amount due to a related
company, other borrowings, promissory notes and
unsecured borrowings from a director. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (foreign exchange risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(1)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group was not exposed to significant foreign
exchange risk as the main operation of the Group
located in the PRC only had limited foreign
currency transactions other than functional
currencies of the respective entities denominated
in Renminbi ("RMB"). The directors of the Company
consider that the foreign currency risk of the Group
is insignificant for the years ended 31 March 2019
and 2018, hence no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to other borrowings (note 29),
promissory notes (note 30) and unsecured
borrowings from a director (note 31).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances
(see note 26). As all the Group’s bank balances
were short-term in nature, any change in the
interest rate from time to time is not considered
to have significant impact to the Group’s
performance. The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However, management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
other necessary actions when significant interest
rate exposure is anticipated.

7.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

7.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from deposits
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents
(collectively refer to as “other financial assets”). The
carrying amounts of these balances represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets. The credit risk is managed on a group
basis.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group obtains
credit report from commercial information providers to
assess the counterparty’s credit and defines credit limits
by counterparty. Individual credit limits of customers are
reviewed by the management of the Group periodically.
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has established credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.

Based on Group’s historical experience in collection of
deposits and other receivables and taking into account
the current and forward looking information, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no provision for
uncollectible deposits and other receivables has been
made in the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2018, impairment loss was recognised
when there was objective evidence of impairment loss.

For deposits and other receivables, the Group has
assessed whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure
the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than
12-month ECL.

7.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

7.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its
management of the Group to develop and maintain the
Group's credit risk grading to categorise exposures
according to their degrees of risk of default. The credit
rating information is supplied by the management of the
Group using public available financial information and the
Group’s own days past due to rate its major customers
and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored
and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is
spread amongst approved counterparties.

7.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. BMBRERER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) BERREEBEEREE
policies (Continued) (#&)

Credit risk (Continued) EERE (HF)

The Group's exposure to credit risk AEEE (5 B R B

The Group’'s current credit risk grading framework REBEBMMNEERBRTRIESR

comprises the following categories: BIENATHEE

Basis for recognising ECL
BRAEHEESANEE

Category Description Other financial assets

5l Hut HihSmEE

Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of 12-month ECL
default or has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition and that are not
credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

&4 HREARRFEENEARR B VGEERCLEFRE 12 A EHEEREE
B BYEEERECEREE(DEAE —R)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a Lifetime ECL — not
significant increase in credit risk since initial credit impaired
recognition but that are not credit impaired (refer to
as Stage 2)

RIR HRNERARBRBVGEERCRZIEIMEL/EERE 2HEHEEEBE — 1
LeRMEE(DERFE_R) |EERE

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when Lifetime ECL — credit
one or more events that have a detrimental impact  impaired
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset
have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

EH HRAHAEERE  BZEEZA—HINALENE Z2HEHEESE — &
HHEFRRRENEEERTEUETECCREE SRE
(P BRE=H)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

Hh &8 BEEATNEBAEORBREVERE mMAKETE SECME
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group's
financial assets as well as the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk.

For the year ended 31 March 2019

7.
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Rk ERE (&)
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FERR (8)

A EE 1z B (E)

TR AEEEREENEER
BERAEENRREERR -

HZE2019F3A3MH IEFE

Internal 12-month or lifetime Gross carrying Net carrying
credit rating ECL amount amount
12@A%
R AR IS E R AR rHABFEER AR TE A E RREDFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TATT
Deposits and other  Performing 12-month ECL 30,805 30,805

receivables
e RhHEMEKER BLH

In respect of cash and cash equivalents, the Group will
place its cash at banks and financial institutions with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
location is mainly in the PRC.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

7.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of other borrowings and
unsecured borrowing from a director and ensures
compliance with loan covenants, if any.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group
reported net loss of approximately HK$129,323,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2019 and as at 31 March 2019,
the Group had other borrowings of approximately
HK$73,030,000 due within one year. As at the same date,
the Group also had capital commitment of approximately
HK$125,937,000, while its net current assets and cash
and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$340,793,000 and HK$163,248,000, respectively. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its
financial obligations and the details of which are set out
in note 2.

The following tables detail show the Group’s remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period,
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities (including both interest and principal cash flow)
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay.

7.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. BREBRERE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BHERREEEEREEK
policies (Continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBE SR (&)
The Group's financial liabilities have contractual rEBeRARZENINHAM
maturities as follows: S 8
O
i h = g - JEIRE
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000
As at 31 March 2019 #2019%3A31H
Accruals and other payables FEErBRA R
i FE S AR ER 178,478 — — 178,478 178,478
Amount due to a related company FE BRI A A 1,305 — — 1,305 1,305
Other borrowings HEE 171,671 1,036,000 — 1,207,671 1,009,030
Promissory notes R R — 1,000,359 — 1,000,359 917,827
Unsecured borrowings from a director EEEEAEE — 392,928 59,995 452,923 407,517
351,454 2,429,287 59,995 2,840,736 2,514,157

As at 31 March 2018 M2018%F3A31H
Accruals and other payables s BR R

H h A BR K 212,835 = = 212,835 212,835
Other borrowings HEE 226,398 1,100,274 — 1,326,672 1,121,906
Promissory notes EHER — 937,948 — 937,948 855,587

439,233 2,038,222 — 2,477,455 2,190,328
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7.
(CONTINUED)

(c) Fair value measurement

Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period for recurring measurement,
grouped into fair value hierarchy Level 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable in
accordance to the Group’s accounting policy.

BRAAREEFTABZE
ZEMEE

Unlisted equity securities, grouped PERARBEEIEZ
into fair value hierarchy Level 3 REMERBS

Financial asset at FVTPL

BB RERERE (FH)

(c)

DREEE
REAHBRRRBRL A EE
e

TREFIREWE WARER
HERARBEHEZHBIA
A RESEERIHE A
MIANEALABEEIE
K% BEATEE -

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET

9,925 —

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value
hierarchy during the year.

Fair value of financial asset that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The valuation technigues and inputs used in the fair
value measurement of financial asset on a recurring
basis are set out below:

FA -
%O

RABERBRZELEE

FBER M EERA A EENE
MERMEELAEE
BEBIEAHBEMEEAR
1R 18 0 1 L 1 0 A B L5
mF

Relationship of key inputs and

Fair value Valuation technique and Significant unobservable significant unobservable inputs
Financial instruments Fair value hierarchy key inputs inputs to fair value
TEHABBEAABENEX
BHIA AREE AMEEER HERHRIERAYE EXTAERBARSE TABEGABBNEE
HK$'000
TEL
Unlisted equity securities — As at 31 March 2019: Level 3 Asset-based approach [0) Marketability (i) The higher of
at FVTPL HK$9,925,000 (2018: nil) discount of 20%; marketability discount,
and the lower the fair
(ih) Minority discount value.
of 20% (ii) The higher of minority
discount, the lower
the fair value.
BRAnBESFABRZZA R201963A318 %= BEARE () BEMM0%: R () BHERNEE AR
EHERES 9,925,000 70 (ii) LB H20% BEBIE -
(20185 : &) (i LENEE - AR

BEBE -
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

RAERAERAT | —B— NEER 121

7. BRERER(E)

(CONTINUED)
(c) Fair value measurement (Continued) (c) DAAREEFE (&)
Fair value of financial asset that are measured at fair ERREHEERANANEBETE
value on a recurring basis (Continued) NWemEENAEE (F)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of CMEENE=ZBRAAEEF=
financial asset on recurring basis are as follows: RCEMREEHIRNAT ¢
Unlisted equity
securities
KREMERFS
HK$'000
T T
Acquisition during the year F U 2,320
Increase in fair value N EEEE 7,520
Exchange differences MEHER 85
9,925
Fair value of financial instruments that are not measured WHEBLEMEERAAER
at fair value on a recurring basis SAENEREEAAEE
The directors of the Company considered that the RRFEERE  HaPBRE
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial WIRBEHA ARSI 2 S BB E K
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated cRBRIEEERARAEE
financial statements are not materially differ from their BT EERESR -
fair values.
8. REVENUE 8. WA

Revenue from continuing operation represents revenue arising
on sales of properties located in the PRC during the year.

An analysis of the Group's revenue from continuing operation

FEBKEMBSRAEFRHEETEYE
ZFT1SHRIA -

BHAEEERNRAGHHOT -

is as follows:
019 2018*
$’000 HK$'000
& T T
Revenue from contract which customers &8 75 5R& 85 1557 €0
within the scope of HKFRS 15 ERAPYEES==F ool N
— Sales of properties — HEWME 156,721 ‘ 23,188

The amount from continuing operation for the year ended 31
March 2018 was recognised under HKAS 18.

* HZE2018F3A3NBIEFE - KRB
BREEXBHSBERBEERB LR
SE185RTER ©
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9.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company have been identified
as the chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM").
Management determines the operating segments based on the
Group’s internal reports, which are reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company for performance assessment and
resources allocation.

The operation in Eastern China was discontinued during the
year ended 31 March 2018 as a result of the disposal of entire
equity interests in Smartest Man Holdings Limited (“Smartest
Man") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Smartest Man Group”) on 3 January 2018. The segment
information for the year ended 31 March 2018 reported on the
next pages did not include any amounts for this discontinued
operation, which were described in more detail in note 14.

After the disposal of the Smartest Man Group on 3 January
2018, the Group’s operating activities are solely derived from
the development, sales and lease of properties in Western
China since the year ended 31 March 2018.

The CODM reviews the overall results of financial position of
the Group as a whole prepared based on the same accounting
policies. Accordingly, the Group has only one single operating
segment and no further analysis of this single segment is
presented.

(@ Information about major customers

Revenue from the transactions from the continuing
operation with four customers presented in Western
China segment, which were different from customers for
the year ended 31 March 2018, amounted to
approximately HK$49,947,000, HK$44,097,000,
HK$36,212,000 and HK$26,465,000 respectively (2018: four
customers presented in Western China segment
amounted to approximately HK$6,324,000, HK$5,762,000,
HK$5,698,000 and HK$5,404,000, respectively), each
contributing over 10% of the total revenue from the
continuing operation of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2019.

(b) Geographical information
The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. As all the
Group’s revenue from external customers are derived
from the PRC, hence no information of the Group's
revenue by geographical location is presented.

As at 31 March 2019, over 90% (2018: 90%) total non-
current assets (excluding financial asset at FVTPL) are
located in the PRC.

7w E #
ARRRTEERARBLEREA (&
BEERREAD - SEEREAD TN
TEEMENUERRTERERSE
ZAEENBREETELHH -

ERMEEBREE2018F3 8318 1E
FERIEEE  RAREHERE R
EERAR ([EX])) REKB AR (5
BIEXEER]) 22HlE - BEER
201841 A3H A - TXE23FREZE 2018
FIANBUEFEZHHERLTEIE
FZERIPQEEE ISR - BRIE
LIS BE N4 -

R2018F 1 A3HHERXERE A%
B EEZE2018F3A3MH ILFE 2 &£&
EENEIR B R BITE Sh i & 1 B R
R HERHEE -

ERf2@ARAZNAEEREARNS
SRR EENP MR EREAE -
o AEEEE—EE— K208 B
WEEINWE—DEE—FT D -

@ BFHETEEFzER
EHRER S A B R E E2018
FIANHIFEZBIHNEE
FHRBECEEBRIMERA
2Bl A& 449,947,000 T -
44,097,0005% 7T - 36,212,0005 7T
K2.26,465,0007% 7T (20184F : 2 7
READBHEEZREE DRI AL
6,324,0003% 7T ~ 5,762,000 Tt
5,698,000/ 7T & 5,404,000 7%
TL)  BAEAEEE E£2019F3 A
B IEFEMRFELEEFRI
AKBIE10% °

(b) HEEHR
ARRBEBERRER - AEBEF
BRENBEP ZWAGIRRF
Y B E 255 B
AEBBAZER -

MN201943H31H B #890%
(20184F : 90%) WU AR IE R B) & B
(TEERAREBAEFABZZ S
BEE) AR -
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FREMBHRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L F[E
10. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 10. HW AR FWK =
Continuing operation FEREER
019 2018
$000 HK$'000
£ T T
Gain on waiver of interest payable RN T B Z WA — 1,979
Exchange (loss) gain fE 5 (E51E) A (22) 2
Others HAh 457 =
435 1,981
11. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 11. B ss R B & R A
Continuing operation BEREXER
019 2018
$000 HK$'000
£ T T
Finance income: B S U 25 ¢
— bank interest income — RITF B Yz 37 123
— interest income from refundable — AREF 2 F B
deposit (note (i) (BH&Ea)) — 29,255
37 29,378
Finance costs: B ISR AN
— interest on bank and other borrowings — $R17 & E & EF| 2 102,391 106,647
— interest on unsecured borrowings from — 2 E&EEMEEF 2
a director (note 31) (FF7E31) 13,255 =
— interest on promissory notes — FEEEFE (ME30)
(note 30) 62,240 62,240
177,886 168,887
Less: amount capitalised on qualifying & : @& REE 2 E AL
assets (note (i) &8 (T FE)) (94,881) (45,174)
83,005 123,713




Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2019

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

11. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS
(CONTINUED)

Continuing operation (Continued)
Notes:

12.

@

On 2 November 2016, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Mr. Tsoi, an ex-director of Chongging
Kingstone, to acquire a property located in Shanghai, the PRC,
at a consideration of RMB500,000,000, equivalent to
HK$565,000,000. During the year ended 31 March 2017, a
refundable deposit of HK$400,000,000 was paid to Mr. Tsoi. The
deposit is refundable if conditions have not been met by Mr.
Tsoi as mutually agreed in the sale and purchase agreement.

On 14 August 2017, the above-mentioned acquisition has been
terminated and the refundable deposit of HK$400,000,000, with
the interest accrued on refundable deposit of approximately
HK$29,255,000, were fully refunded by Mr. Tsoi.

Further details are set out in the Company’'s announcements
dated 2 November 2016, 26 May 2017 and 14 August 2017.

The borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose from the
general borrowing pool are calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 9.1% (2018: 8.2%) per annum to
expenditure on qualifying assets.

LOSS BEFORE TAX
Continuing operation
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging:

Bt %5 W 8 I B B A A ()

FECEXRK (&)

GEE

(i)

R2016FE1M A28 AEBEREES
BREEBEGETVEEHZ B8
KRB A K #500,000,0007T (8% 1 49
565,000,0005% 7T.) W B AL 1A £ 2 4
¥ o B E2017F3A31MBILEE - &K
SEERRLESFARET S
400,000,0007 7T © fini %% 5t 4 AR B2 3E K
BEBHMERTE ZIEE - BlET& A
FIRIE o

R2017F8814H » il BB &
It BREAE2EEENEENS
400,000,000 jT i [ Al 3R 1B 7] & BT
A B 4929,255,0005 7T ©

H— A HBHRARQR AR AE2016F
1M A28 - 2017458268 F201748
B14ARZAE -

FABEMEZ EERAR T B — M E
EBEBEL  WAEREENKRIIE
(20184 : 82[F )3t E - BEABIKE
EZBAXA -

BR Bt Al &5 18
B B A1 S 1B T AT A T TE (R B

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Staff costs (including directors of the BINA(BEARRRES)
Company)
— salaries and other allowances — e kEMmERY 23,592 24,649
— retirement benefits scheme — RIREHETEI R
contributions 2,924 2,549
26,516 27,198
Cost of completed properties held for ERAERAY ZHELEZ
sales recognised as an expense BT 2 AR 95,547 15,851
Auditor’'s remuneration ZEEN B & 1,500 4,000
Depreciation of property, plant and M BEMEEITE
equipment 747 280
Loss on write-offs on property, plant and 5% - BE KX & E518
equipment 284 —
Minimum lease payments paid under RELEYE2LEHE
operating lease rentals in respect of He s mEHRERNK
rented premises 3,591 2,664
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13.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

RAERAERAT | —B— NEER 125

13. RSB

Continuing operation SEEERR
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT 7T
Current income tax BIERRT 1S
— PRC land appreciation tax — FROE A (AR 41,600 9,093
Deferred income tax (note 32) EIEFTIS B (M 7E32) (7,609) 13,533
33,991 22,626
Hong Kong Profits Tax ERREHR

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided since no
assessable profits have been generated during both vyears
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC enterprise income tax in respect of operation in the
Mainland China is calculated at a rate of 25% on the estimated
assessable profits for the years ended 31 March 2019 and
2018 under the Law of the PRC’'s on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law.

No PRC enterprise income tax has been provided since no
assessable profits have been generated from continuing
operation during both years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

The PRC land appreciation tax

Land appreciation tax in the PRC is levied on properties
developed by the Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value under the
applicable regulations, is calculated based on the proceeds of
sales of properties less deductible expenditures including cost
of land use rights, borrowing costs and all property
development expenditures.

BERBENGRHRETEE  HIER
HZE2019F K2018F3 A3 B IEFE I
BEETAERFEER -

TEIREREHR
BRTBEAMERGEE L PBRERME
HMERBPECEMEIE ([LEMRF
BOED) REEMFIIEERGIREZE
20194 K& 20183 A31H ILF E (5T &
AR M IR B R 25% 1 B

MERPREDEMERETEMES L
R E 20194 K 20183 A31H IE4F
EREReEBYEEE T ERRE
F o

B+ B EH

Bz LI EN Ty AN S B B R A 5
E2WE  RELHMZTHENRERE
30%E60% U - HEtEIETREE
P A8 TE DA H & ¥ 26 P 1S SR TR F0RR AT H10RL
P (BRELIERERA - EERA
KFIEMERBERRAS) (FH -
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 13. FTEBIF X (&)
Continuing operation (Continued) FEREXK (B
The PRC land appreciation tax (Continued) HE £ i IR E B ()
The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the REEEHAZJHEEGEeERR 2R
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss TATE B R T ¢
as follows:
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T T T
Loss before tax B 156 A 5 18 (95,332) (87,046)
Tax calculated at respective income REEMERBETE 2
tax rate g (16,297) (14,709)
The PRC land appreciation tax ARt b (A 41,600 9,093
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax HBER 2 WA Z TG 2
purpose (5) (4,827)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for RAIFIF 2 Bk 2 TS 82 2
tax purpose 17,651 20,864
Tax effect of utilisation of tax loss not B SE B R TER 2 B 18 518
previously recognised 2GR E (9,099) —
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR IBEIB 2 G2 141 12,205
Income tax expenses for the year REEMERAX 33,991 22,626

Details of deferred income tax are set out in note 32. EIEFTS R B A M 7E32 ©
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 1 November 2017, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party to the Group to dispose of its entire
equity interest in Smartest Man Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Smartest Man
Group”) at a cash consideration of RMB362,480,000, equivalent
to HK$428,659,000 (the “Disposal”). The Smartest Man Group
carried out all of the Group’s operation in Eastern China. The
Disposal was effected in order to generate cash flows for the
expansion of the Group’s operation in Western China. The
Disposal was completed on 3 January 2018, the date which the
Group lost control of the Smartest Man Group.

Further details of the Disposal were set out in the Company's
announcements dated 1 November 2017 and 3 January 2018
and the Company’s circular dated 5 December 2017.

The profit (loss) for the year from discontinued operation is
analysed as follows:

Loss arising from the Smartest Man FAENEBELZER
Group for the year

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz WS
(note 39) (FF3E39)

14. ERIEREETK

R2017FE M B1H KRR A HEEE2EK
B TE@$EIZ§%*”—EJ¢EE
ik AHEERESUERER D

HIfB AR (HBIEXER]) 22 Bﬁx
- IRE N EAAR362,480,00070
(18 % 428,659,000 7T) ([ & =
H]) o BN EBBETASEBERERME
ZHBEER BITHESTBEEEELR
ernEfAEEETRPRAL LR 2
%%% HEEEMN20184F1 B3B =K
REERZBRELE B I HIRE -

FRLESHEZE—SHBIHNRART
HEIA2017F11 A 18 %20184F1 A3H
ZMHA&NAE? HEiA2017912 85
=i}

REBKIEEEER 2 FNRN (EE)
DR

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TAET
— (1,594)

— 18,072

— 16,478
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14.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED)

14. ERILEEEXRK (&)

The results of the Smartest Man Group for the period from 1 BXEBR2017F4A1BZE2018F 11
April 2017 to 3 January 2018 (date of the completion of the SH(LESHETABE) IR %45
Disposal), which have been included in the consolidated T - BEEEETAGEBERR

statement of profit or loss, were as follows:

Period from

1 April 2017 to

3 January 2018

2017418 &

201851 H3H
LEHARS
HK$’000
FHET
Revenue WA 41,482
Cost of sales $HE B AN (12,052)
Gross profit EH 29,430
Other income H b U 25 4,431
Other gains H A 143
Selling expenses HER X (4,460)
Administrative expenses THHRX (7,277)
Decrease in fair values of investment properties and REMERIERIZEMSE
investment properties under construction AR EERD (31,941)
Finance income B 75 W 2 1,949
Loss before tax B 56 A 5 18 (7,725)
Income tax credit FrigtiE e 6,131
Loss for the period from discontinued operation BRI EEBHRANER (1,594)
Loss for the period attributable to EHEGEHAER
— equity holders of the Company — ARFKRE (1,050)
— non-controlling interests — FEERER (544)
(1,594)
Loss for the year from discontinued operation include the B IFEEEKZ FRNEIR
following: BIENTEIE :
Staff costs BT A
— salaries and other allowances — Fre REAER 7,008
— retirement benefits scheme — BRIREFE B
contributions 1,225
8,233
Cost of completed properties held for sales BIEHE 2B TYHE Z KA 11,894
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Wz - BERERETE 51
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED) 14. BRI Q& XE7 (&)

Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment RREVERBEZIREIAZEH
properties

Period from

1 April 2017 to

3 January 2018

2017418 &

201851 H3H
1E H#A 7
HK$’000
FET
Gross rental income from investment properties REZEME 2 BES WA 22,600
Direct operating expenses from properties that generated  HE4ABSUWA ZWEME
rental income ErEELERY (158)
Net rental income from investment properties REFZEMEZFHS KA 22,442
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Smartest Man HZE2018F3A3BILEFE BXEHE
Group contributed approximately HK$35,308,000 to the Group's BASB I EEHSREFEERY
net operating cash flows, approximately HK$477,000 in respect 35,308,000 7T * BLIREEE) KB EE
of investing activities and nil in respect of financing activities. 5 R B B 4477,0008 TR E o (B E
The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the ENHEHRsEERBERTERMKH
Smartest Man Group at the date of disposal were disclosed in IO EE ©

note 39.
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVF'S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Lei Hong Wai resigned as an executive director on 3
April 2018.

(i) Ms. Cheng Ka Ki resigned as an executive director on 5
November 2018.

(i) Ms. Cheng Ka Man, Carman resigned as an executive
director on 2 May 2017.

(iv)  Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai, Elton resigned as an executive
director on 3 April 2018.

(V) Mr. Leung Alex resigned as an executive director on 5
November 2018.

(vij  Mr. Yuan Huixia resigned as an executive director on 5
November 2018.

(Vi) Mr. Lai Hok Lim resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 5 November 2018.

(vii)  Mr. Lei Seng Fat resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 5 November 2018.

(iX)  Mr. Wong Tak Chuen resigned as an independent non-
executive director on 5 November 2018.

(x) Mr. Hu Xingrong was appointed as the chairman and an
executive director on 2 May 2018.

(xi)  Mr. Huang Xiaohai was appointed as an executive director
on 2 May 2018.

(i) Mr. lJin Jianggui was appointed as an executive director on
5 November 2018.

(xiii)  Mr. Li Zzhenyu was appointed as an executive director on
5 November 2018.

(xiv) Ms. Pau Yee Ling was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 5 November 2018.

(xv)  Mr. Wong Kwan Kit was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 5 November 2018.

(xvi) Mr. Yuen Hoi Po was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 5 November 2018.

15. EERFETHRAENE (B)

(@)

EERFETBRAEME
()
P& -

()  FHEFXRER2018FIHIAF
ERTES -

(i) EEHE/|NEMN2018F11A5H
BERITES -

(i)  EENER2017FE5 A28 &
FRTES -

(v SREIE S AEM20185F4 A3 H Bt
ERITES -

v RIEBFKEN2018F11H5H
BERTES -

(i) =EEHLAEN2018F11A5H
BERITES -

(vii) 2R ER% £ N2018F 11 A5H
BHEBYIERITES -

(i)  Z=ROR L £ 201811 A5 H
BB IEMITES -

(x) =B KEN2018F11H5H
BHEBYIERITESE -

) AR AEN2018F5H2H %
RERNTESEREF -

(X)) EEBELAENR2018FE5H2HE
ZEAENITES -

(xi)  2ITHE L EN2018F11A5H
BEZIRWITES -

(i) FHRF % ER2018F 11 A5H
EZERATES -

(xiv) #8KE=E L 201811 A5H
BEZITABNIERTES -

xv) HEEANELEMN2018F11H5H
BERERBIIFATES -

(xvi) =G E % ENR2018%F11 A58
BEZITABNIFERTES -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE
15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVFE'S 15. EERFETHBRAEME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination (b) ESFZEREREBERBER
benefits
None of the directors of the Company received or will BE20194 20183 A318 1L
receive any retirement benefits or termination benefits FE - HEAARESHE XS
during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. W B T {3 R 4 ) s BE BB AR A
(c) Waived or agreed to waive any emoluments (00 BEIRBHREEAHME
None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed H £20194F &2018F3 A31H It
to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 FE MEXRXRARESHENLR
March 2019 and 2018. BEHEEMME -
(d) Inducement to join or upon joining the Group (d) WSl AZREBHKRIMAZ
SEEZRB
No emoluments have been paid by the Group to any of & Z=20194 &201843 8318 It
the directors of the Company or the five highest paid FE REEIWER AN G EAE
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the EENHEESHMA T AE
Group, or as compensation for loss of office for the MBS EAE N ANERE kRN
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. AR EB R SEE) sk Ve A BERE B
(e) Discretionary bonuses (e) BIBEIEAL
Discretionary bonuses were determined with reference to T 55 7 AT T 22 BB 7N £ B 4% A8 2 4
the Group’s operating results and individual REAREmMEE -
performance.
(f) Chief executive officer of the Company H EABITHRAR
The Company does not have any chief executive officer #H ZE20194 & 2018438318 IF

for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. FE - ND T EEATEER -
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mEMKHRERME
For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE
16. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 16. EEBREHFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEBREGERTMALTHR  BE=%
Group, three (2018: three) were directors of the Company and (2018%F : =) BARBESE « 1H 5N
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 15 SEHR EXHIFISZHEER - BT
above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2018: two) % (20184F : MB) AT ZBleanT
individuals were as follows:
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT T T
Salaries and other benefits e REMBEF 3,542 3,686
Contributions to retirement benefit ROREFIET B K
schemes 126 115
3,668 3,801
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEME N FATEHE :
2019 2018
N I T [l NO. of employee
EEZAR BEE#E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT T T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 Bt E
1,500,000 /& 7T — 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 Bt E
2,000,000 & 7T 2 1
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L F[E

17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BREE

RAERAERAT | —B— NEER 135

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to equity holders of the Company is based on the

following data:

AR R A S IR A RIS AT
RIAT AR ¢

From continuing and discontinued operations REFECERBERORLES
E) S
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHE T
Loss B8
Loss for the year attributable to equity FARFHESREARLEE
holders of the Company for the BB Z AR R KR EMN
purpose of basic and diluted loss NEEEIR
per share (129,323) (92,650)
‘000 ‘000
T8 T A%
Number of shares & E
Weighted average number of shares AR ESRERKEE
for the purpose of basic and diluted B8 2 B hnAE &
loss per share 1,906,172 1,906,172
From continuing operation REFELSEXK
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT T T
Loss B8
Loss for the year attributable to equity RN TEERER R #EE
holders of the Company from B2ARRNBRREEFE
continuing operation for the purpose TR FEEEE
of basic and diluted loss per share (129,323) (109,672)

The denominators used are the same as those calculated
above for both basic and diluted earnings per share.

Since there are no potential dilutive shares in issue during the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, basic and dilutive loss

per share are the same for both years.

PAANRE LAt EERERARE TR

FFTAEAER -

R E = 20194 %20184F3 A31H IE4
R BEBMEDHITRG  WZEF
ERESRERREEEEER -
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REMBHRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE
17. LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 17. BREE (&)
From discontinued operation RECKRLREXEK
Basic and diluted earnings per share from the discontinued HZE2018F3A31H L FERE K IELE
operation during the year ended 31 March 2018 was HK$0.89 EEBHNEREAREFTENAER
cent per share, based on the profit for the year attributable to 0.898 Il - BETHIRIE 2R B 4% | EAE & 5 75
equity holders of the Company from the discontinued ZARANBIBRREGARAERERND
operation of approximately HK$17,022,000 and the 17,022,000 7T » 1M & A% E AN K SE &
denominators detailed above for both basic and diluted loss BRI RN £3 o
per share.
18. DIVIDEND 18. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 HZE2019F3 A31H IFFZ I 8Kk
March 2019, nor has any dividend been proposed since the EBIRMNEMRS - B3REBREIE
end of the reporting period (2018: nil). BERTEMARE (20184 : ) o
19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. BEY=E
The Group's investment properties represented buildings held REBZREYMEREEBAEESF
for lease owned by the Smartest Man Group. These investment EHREZIEF ZEREMHEEHLE
properties were disposed of as detailed in note 39. (FFEHEAMIEESY) ©
The movement of the Group’s investment properties and the REBREMESHREIBALEE
reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement were as FrEZHEREERIIAT
follows:
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT T T
FAIR VALUE AREE
At the beginning of the year REH] — 652,123
Decrease in fair value (note) AR EERD (M) — (29,835)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HENB AT (Mf7E39) — (661,920)
Exchange differences =% — 39,632
At the end of the year RER — —
Note: For the year ended 31 March 2018, decrease in fair value of MIaE : B Z=2018F3A3THIEFE AR E

approximately HK$29,835,000 was attributable to the change in
unrealised losses relating to investment properties at 3 January
2018, the date of the completion of the Disposal.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
were measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties.

87 4> #929,835,0007% 7T J5 R 722018
10308 (EEEBRRKEH) RBE
WEEM 2 R B HERD -

AEEMBRBEEEHER B ARRE
SHFENEEREZYMERDIRA
AEBERAFELDERARSKREY
e
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L F[E

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the Group’s investment properties as at 3
January 2018, the date of the completion of the Disposal, that
were measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into fair value hierarchy Level 3 based on the degree
to which the inputs to fair value measurements is observable,
is as follows:

19.

RAERAERAT | —B— NEER 137

BREWE(E)
HeEEBEERK B E20185E1 AR R WA
BRERAABEFEZAEBEREY
¥ DNERAAREBEFEGASENTEH
REEDEBAAEBHEEIE BED
e

Fair value
measurement
under fair value
hierarchy Level 3
as at 3 January

2018
20181 H3H
ZAREEEIE
AREETE
HK$’000

FHBT

Recurring fair value measurements

KEMIAEBERE

— investment properties located in Zhejiang, Eastern China — 7 AER MR ML 2 R &

UES

661,920

There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy Levels 1,
2 and 3 from 1 April 2017 to 31 January 2018, the date of the
completion of the Disposal.

Valuation processes

The Group’s investment properties were valued as at 3
January 2018, the date of the completion of the Disposal, were
valued by Cushman & Wakefield, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Group, who holds a
recognised relevant professional qualification and has recent
experience valuing similar properties in the similar locations. In
estimating the fair value of all of the Group’s investment
properties, the highest and best use of these properties is their
current use.

H2017F4A18 £2018%1A31H (5%
REEEENEE)  2ABEE1E -
F2EBEEIE 2 FW mEE o

HERE
AEEZEEMERTESBETMK A
2018 F 1 A3E R AB Y EXSEKHH
NEEBEREZ HEMBERITET
A ZIEEMFEERA ZHEEE
B BYEERONE CRBEMESE
BRHKES  RAEBAEREDMED
AEBEEZGFNE  EEAZHARER
HeakxERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Valuation techniques
Valuations are based on:

0]

(ii)

Direct comparison approach assuming sale of each of
these properties in its existing conditions with the benefit
of vacant possession. By making reference to sales
transactions as available in the relevant market,
comparable properties in close proximity have been
selected and adjustments have been made to account for
the difference in factors such as locations and property
size; and

Income approach taking into account the current rents of
the property interests and the reversionary potentials of
the tenancies, term vyield and reversionary yield are then
applied respectively to derive the market value of the
property.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the

year.

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

19. REY* ()
(GRS
B TR IB A T I EHET

0]

(ii)

RAEELBE RRZEWE
EERANREHE - K2EH
BmiSHER S BB
BRI ELLBRYELRLERY
EEEERRZERFELAR
IS4

RAWeE  fHRMEER 2R
BHSRENEEEN  BBR
7 Bl LA HA PR W a8 2R % 18 57 et R
AAEMEME-

FA - HEXNHEZES -

RAEATTBEGABE A
REEE(F3E) HEER

Range of unobservable

Relationship of

Valuation Unobservable inputs (probability unobservable inputs to
Description #fE Fair value technique(s) inputs weighted average) fair value
TUERGAUBEE TUEEGAMESR
AREE HERE TUBERBAEE (HEMETLYE) AREEZEE
Investment properties REMSE 3 January 2018; Direct comparison  Recent transacted 3 January 2018: The higher the
HK$661,920,000 approach or rent RMB43-88 market transacted
2018F1A3A : income approach &R S per square metre rent, the higher
661,920,000/ EELEBIEK per month the fair value
WA 2018F1A38 : 87 WmEKRAELLFA
BERRARE AnBEERS
48-887T
Recent transacted 3 January 2018: The higher the recent

Note: In determining the valuation techniques adopted for valuation of

the investment properties of the Group as at 3 January 2018,
Cushman & Wakefield has considered whether direct
comparison approach would be adopted with reference to the
availability of the sales transactions in the relevant market and
comparable properties in close proximity with adjustments
made. If there was no such information available, income
approach would be used.

price
Bk R B

Reversionary yield
ERaE

RMB1,900-3,700
per square meter
20185 143K :
BERKARE
1,900-3,7007T

3 January 2018: 10.5%
201851638 : 105%

transacted price,
the higher the fair
value

Bk ERAA
AnEERS

The higher the
reversionary
yield, the lower
the fair value

GRS I
AnBERE

MieE : REERARNGEE ARER201851A3
B2 ZEMEHERME  FHiER
TR2ERETSEBENELRY
FHERH (KHRB) ZREEERER
RERLBE - WEERSERE
£ AR ERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER
CONSTRUCTION
The movements of the Group’s investment properties under
construction and the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurement are as follows:

20. EEREWR

ARBERRENE L BHREIEA
#o BB 2 HIRIT

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT T

FAIR VALUE AREE
At the beginning of the year =) 1,791,701 1,502,392
Additions NE 67,376 111,361
Interest capitalised B E R 52,136 20,841
(Decrease) increase in fair value (note) AR EE G ) &0 (FsE) (30,438) 52,027
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HENB AT (M 7E39) — (62,760)
Exchange differences E X =R (113,640) 167,840
At the end of the year RER 1,767,135 1,791,701

Note: For the year ended 31 March 2019, changes in fair values of MizE - B Z=2019F3R831B I FE - BRARH

approximately HK$30,438,000 is attributable to the changes in
unrealised loss relating to investment properties under
construction at the end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, changes in fair values of
approximately HK$2,106,000 is attributable to the changes in
unrealised loss relating to investment properties under
construction of the Smartest Man Group at 3 January 2018, the
date of the completion of the Disposal.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, changes in fair values of
approximately HK$54,133,000 is attributable to the changes in
unrealised gain relating to investment properties under
construction at the end of the reporting period.

HZE2018F3A31HILFE -
20181 A3 (K&K BH) BXE
ENZEEFREMENRERBIEE
B)) 5 #92,106,0005 TT °

HZE2018F3A3MBLLFE BT
SHRBERPICEYENRE R WS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER 20.
CONSTRUCTION (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the Group's investment properties under
construction that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into fair value hierarchy
Level 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to fair value
measurements is observable is as follows:

EEREWE (FH)

R FERRIRAAR BEFEZAEE
EEREWE  HRAABEFERA
BEZABREEDBEARABESES
B ARSI :

Fair value
measurement
under fair value
hierarchy Level 3
as at 31 March

Fair value
measurement
under fair value
hierarchy Level 3
as at 31 March

2019 2018
R2019F R 20184
3A318 2250 KERIEPANINE
BEFEIELA A REEKIEARELE
EEGE =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT T T
Recurring fair value measurements KEMAREETNS
— investment properties under — MNREAREE 2 EERE
construction situated in LES
Chongging, Western China 1,767,135 1,791,701

Recurring fair value measurements

REERARBEFE

Fair value
measurement
under fair value
hierarchy Level 3
as at 3 January

2018
20181 A3H
ZRAREEZEIE
AREETE
HK$’000

THERT

— investment properties under construction situated in — UREFMIZEZERE
Zhejiang, Eastern China IES 62,760

There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy Levels 1,

2 and 3 during both years.

REEFE AR

BEF1E F2BX

FEIE 2 EER
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER
CONSTRUCTION (CONTINUED)

Valuation processes

The Group’s investment properties under construction at 31
March 2019, 31 March 2018 and 3 January 2018, the date of
the completion of the Disposal, were valued by CHFT, APAC
and Cushman & Wakefield respectively, which are independent
and qualified professional valuers not connected with the
Group who hold recognised relevant professional qualification
and have recent experience in valuing similar properties in the
similar locations. In estimating the fair value of all of the
Group’s investment properties under construction, the highest
and best use of these properties in the current use.

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

20.
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EEREWE (&

fHERE

A& B R2019F3 318 ~ 201843 H
318 &20184E1 838 (H & K B &)
MERPICEDEDFIHBIEELSE
B EANEEERE GEMED -
DABEFERBERITEHETHE  Z
EHEMBAEERT ZHBEEER
B GBI E 2 REMERF IS
e o MASEBATEERTEMELR
BEZMGMS  HEAZARERHE

R M&ERE -

RAEATTBEAABE 2D
REEE (F3E) HEEH

Range of unobservable Relationship of

Valuation Unobservable inputs (probability unobservable inputs to
Description HiE Fair value technique(s) inputs weighted average) fair value
TABRRAREEE FTUBRBAREHR
AREE HERKE TUBRRBAEE (HEMETLYE) AREEZBE
Chongging — commercial ~ EE — BEAE 31 March 2019:  Direct comparison ~ Recent transacted 31 March 2019: The higher the recent
building HK$1,767,135,000 approach price RMB32,000~ transacted price,
(31 March 2018  EEZLEA B KRB RMB83,000 the higher the fair
HK$1,791,701,000) (31 March 2018: value
201943A318 : RMB38,000~ RERRERARA
1,767,135,000% 7T RMB95,000) AREERR
(2018 A3A318 : per square metre
1,791,701,000% 1C) 20194634318 :
BEFRARE
32,000TEARE

Zhejiang — commercial
residential building

Zhejiang — industrial land

WL — BERE

WL — IEAM

3 January 2018:

HK$44,640,000
201851430 :

44,640,000 7T

3 January 2018;
HK$18,120,000
201841438 :
18,120,000 7T

Direct comparison
approach
EENRE

Direct comparison
approach
BERENEE

Recent transacted
price
RILKRER

Recent transacted
price
SR BER

83,0007T (20184
3A31A :
AR®38,000LEA
FR#95,0007T)

3 January 2018:
RMB2,000 per
square metre

201851438 : §FH
KAR#2,0007T

3 January 2018:
RMB570 per square
metre

2018%F1A38 : §¥4
KARESI0T

The higher the recent
transacted price,
the higher the fair
value

RERRERARA
AnBERS

The higher the recent
transacted price,
the higher the fair
value

RERRERARA
AREELR
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE
21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 21. BRPYE
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T T
At the beginning of the year REH] 563,560 463,340
Additions NE 51,094 98,826
Interest capitalised B ER 18,474 12,039
Transferred to completed properties HEBEARIEHEZRTIYWE
held for sale (95,547) (15,851)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HEM B AR (MEE39) — (38,553)
Exchange differences =% (36,292) 43,759
At the end of the year RER 501,289 563,560
The properties under development are all located in the PRC FrEsRAMESMNTE - FBEAEILE
and are expected to be completed within the normal operating BEBENTE WAt ARBEER °

cycle and are included under current assets.

The carrying amount of properties under development of R2019F3ANBERTPYWEREELD
approximately HK$501,289,000 as at 31 March 2019 501,289,000 7t (20184 : 563,560,000
(2018: HK$563,560,000) are expected to be completed within BIT) MHRREHRERK @A

the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period. MNFERK °
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE

22. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 22. ME - -BERRZE

Furniture,
fixtures
Construction Leasehold and Motor
in progress improvements equipment  vehicles Total
&M -
HE ®#ER
ERIR BFEE B3] RE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T T T T
Cost 2%

As at 1 April 2017 R2017F4 818 443,020 152 1,516 2,182 446,870

Additions NE 84,306 — 600 1,521 86,427

Write-off i 4 — — (80) — (80)

Interest capitalised F B &R 12,294 = = — 12,294

Amortisation of prepaid T8 & R 5

lease payments &b (Hf5E23)

capitalised (note 23) 7,156 = = = 7,156
Disposal of subsidiaries LEMRERQR

(note 39) (FF3E39) - - (753) (2,314) (3,067)

Exchange differences fE R =% 31,916 = 79 222 32,217
As at 31 March 2018 and 20183 A31H &

1 April 2018 20184E4 A 18 578,692 152 1,362 1,611 581,817
Additions NE 84,386 — 160 1,212 85,758
Write-offs 1 85 — (152) (543) - (695)
Interest capitalised FMEEARL 24,271 = = = 24,271
Amortisation of prepaid lease  FE17H & FUIE # 84

payments capitalised &AMk (BtEE23)

(note 23) 7,035 — — — 7,035
Exchange differences PE % A= 58 (36,039) = (38) (103) (36,180)
As at 31 March 2019 R20199F3A31H 658,345 — 941 2,720 662,006
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

22. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

22. % - BERFRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Furniture,
fixtures
Construction Leasehold and Motor
in progress improvements equipment  vehicles Total
B -
®ER
EEIR HEBFEE B4 RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHIT T FHIT
Accumulated depreciation R E
As at 1 April 2017 R2017F4B1H — 35 975 2,080 3,090
Depreciation charge e HE = 76 188 67 331
Write-off b — — (80) — (80)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR

(note 39) (FF5E39) — — (690) (2,246) (2,936)
Exchange differences MEHERE — = 44 132 176
As at 31 March 2018 and M2018%3H318 &

1 April 2018 2018F4 A 1H — 111 437 33 581
Depreciation charge e = 41 244 462 747
Write-offs 58 — (152) (259) — 411
Exchange differences ME X =5 — — (1) — (N
As at 31 March 2019 H20199F3 A31H — — 421 495 916

Carrying amount fREE
As at 31 March 2019 R2019E3A31H 658,345 — 520 2,225 661,090
As at 31 March 2018 M2018F3 A31H 578,692 41 925 1,578 581,236
The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than BREEFETREN Lz - BEKREE

construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis, after taking into account their estimated residual values,
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles

Over the term of the lease
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 25%

25%

HBHUBELEITE - &&F AT RIER
BERZAEFTAERFHNOT

HEBFEE

B RERRB

e

8B 4 F 5

25%
25%
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L F[E
23. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 23. EHHERE
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFETT
At the beginning of the year REA] 290,143 262,042
Additions NE — 16,777
Amortisation (note) 5E (M) (7,035) (7,156)
Exchange differences PE & Z % (18,629) 18,480
At the end of the year RER 264,479 290,143
Note: As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, amortisation of prepaid lease Bt 3E - A20194F % 201843 A31H » &

EFREHE (B Lt AR RIERTE
ZHEH) WERTRE A (BfFE22) -

payments represents the amortisation of land use right used
under construction in progress and is capitalised in construction
in progress (note 22).

24. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL 24. %f‘/ AREETAERZESRME
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHBT

Unlisted equity securities in the PRC FEIR R R E S 9,925 —

Note: As at 31 March 2019, the unlisted equity securities in the PRC FeE - 75A2019¢3531 = EF‘E"HQLT%
represented the investment in the 10% equity interest in the HESEREARPERIHLATRE
private entity established in the PRC. They were measured at H)10% B 18 = 52 5 I A BRI A
fair value at the end of the reporting period, with increase in EEE 2 Wik ””ﬁl\ﬁizm(?ﬁ:iﬂ
fair value of approximately HK$7,520,000 recognised in the 31E¢¢rz$é$§ﬁ?§¢ﬁﬁ VR
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 {E15497,520,0007% 7T «

March 2019.
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mEMKHRERME
For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE
25. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 25. B& - BAREARE thEK AR
RECEIVABLES £
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHE T T T
Deposits and other receivables 2 & I H e AR 3R
(notes (i) and (i) (B 3 i) R (i) 30,805 29,009
Prepayments FETFRIB 16,623 1,140
47,428 30,149
Analyse for reporting purpose as: MHREBNOITE
Non-current portion IERENF S — 523
Current portion mENE 5 47,428 29,626
47,428 30,149
The Group does not hold any collaterals over its other 7N £ (B0 48 o L E At JE WORR SR B (]

receivables. B
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eV |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE

25. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The movements in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

25.

REBEBRERLR / —Z2—NEFEFR
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R4 BATHER SR

('

ME )

W ESREREZESMNT

2019 2018

HK$/000 HK$'000

TET T T

At the beginning of the year =) — 362
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HE M B AR (BFEE39) — (384)
Exchange differences &5 =% — 22
At the end of the year RER — —

Notes:

0]

(i

Included in the balance as at 31 March 2019 is approximately
RMB18,387,000 (2018: RMB18,387,000), equivalent to
approximately HK$21,513,000 (2018: HK$22,984,000),
representing an indemnification from the vendor of Gloryear
Investments Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Gloryear Group”) for the loss arising from the
termination of the hotel operation of the Gloryear Group.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL,
unless when there has a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition. For the deposits and
other receivables of approximately HK$30,805,000 as at 31
March 2019 (1 April 2018: HK$29,009,000), the expected credit
loss was minimal as these deposits and receivables had no
recent history of default, part of receivables were subsequently
settled, and there was no unfavorable current conditions and
forecast future economic conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

B &E -

(in

FFA20193831B 2 @ AR
18,387,0007T (20184 : AR ¥
18,387,0007T) 18 & 7 £921,513,000/%
7T (20184F : 22,984,000 JT) & &
KREERARREMBAR ([HEE
FEE))CEFRKRIEBFEERE
¥BHELBIEMREH]ZBERE -

AEBEAEESEN12EAFEREES
BHEBRE BRIEEERKRENY
BEREHRE AR AEEA e
REHEHEEEE - FHE2HES
EEBRERBEENEENREES
BB B V) PR B B RILIEER © 7
20193 A31H Wik & & H fth & Wk
TE #930,805,0007%8 7 (20184F4 A 18 -
29,009,000%70) & * EEAEEERE
B&E  REBZEERS REKKE
THAY B W0RC ek - o EUNEIAR
REZLE  BEREHRITEDF
IR B TR R SR A8 B IR R,
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. REREZERAE
The Group’'s cash and cash equivalents are analysed as AEEZREREFRRES DL :
follows:
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FABTT
Cash at banks and in hand RITRFHERS 163,248 55,431
Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates during B E2019F K2018F3A3MH IEFE -
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. RITFFIRBITHISHEETE °
The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign NARETHEERRE RINEAR B
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies B [ HH 22 F AN SHE R SR1TAS R )R 3R
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are ® - AESTHEIBUTEME B BINEE
subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange il 48 81 K2 AR 1
control promulgated by the PRC government.
27. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. BtERARHEMENSEKER
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FABIT
Construction costs accruals and BEKAETER RERN
payables BR X 110,625 146,833
Amount due to a company under control &1~ £ 5 A 2 Hi| 89 2 )Y
of Mr. Tsoi (note (i) 58 (MEE0) — 3,188
Other accruals and payables (note (ii) HEfb st B R R EMAERR
(B (i) 67,853 62,814
178,478 212,835

Notes:

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the control against a
company by Mr. Tsoi has been lost and the amount due to that
company as at 31 March 2019 of approximately HK$5,212,000
(2018: HK$3,188,000) was included in other accruals and
payables.

Included in the balance as at 31 March 2019 is approximately
RMB18,387,000 (2018: RMB18,387,000), equivalent to
approximately HK$21,513,000 (2018: HK$22,984,000),
representing the compensation payable in respect of the
termination of the hotel operation of the Gloryear Group.

GEEX

(i) HE2019F383MA L FE - 8L 4
BELKFZ A RIAIIEHIAE - MR 201943 A
31 H K FE I 52 2 R 5 IE 495,212,0007%8
7T (20184F : 3,188,000 7T ) & 5t A &
fth FEAT B A R FE A 5RIE ©

(i) FA2019FE3IANB 2 EHOARKE
18,387,0007C (20184 : A R ¥
18,387,0007T) 48 & 7 £721,513,0007%
7T (20184F : 22,984,000 JT) /& B 4%
1E 22 SR [ 5 A m RS 2 e o
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L F[E

28. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY 28. EREED T

The amount represents an amount due to a company which is RSB EEN —EHAARRNITES
wholly-owned by Mr. Hu, an executive director and controlling FIERRRMAEESERANBEER T
shareholder of the Company. The amount is unsecured, non- HFRIE - ZR A RE - BERRIEE
interest bearing and repayable on demand. KIEE
29. OTHER BORROWINGS 29. Hihfg &
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHE T
current: BNER :
Unsecured loans — principal and ERBER — A KA B
interest portions (note (i)) o (B EEa) 35,100 120,262
Unsecured loan — interest portion EIRBEER — F B
(note (ii)) (PR EE(GD)) 37,930 1,644
73,030 121,906
Non-current: FEBNER :
Unsecured loan, principal portion EIRBEER  XeHH
(note (ii)) (PR EE (D)) 936,000 1,000,000
Total other borrowings HibfEE 4% 1,009,030 1,121,906
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

29. OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29.

Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements):

Hftfg & (&)
(B PR R B AR 5 B 5 R
EAE)

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT T T
On demand BER 35,366 7,019
Within 1 year —F RN 37,664 114,887
Between 1 and 2 years —FEEMF 936,000 1,000,000
1,009,030 1,121,906
Carrying amount of other borrowings BAR—FREEZHEMEE
repayable within one year ZREE 35,100 114,887
Interest portions of other borrowings EMmEEZFNEHS 37,930 7,019
Amounts shown under current liabilities  FI{ER B & & 2 FH 73,030 121,906
Amounts shown under non-current FIVEIER ) B B 2 B
liabilities 936,000 1,000,000
1,009,030 1,121,906
Notes: BEE

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group entered into
loan agreements with several independent third parties to the
Group for unsecured loans with aggregate principal amount of
RMB91,910,000, equivalent to approximately HK$114,887,000.
The unsecured loans carry a fixed interest rate of 10% per
annum, with the interest payable quarterly, and will mature 1
year after the drawdown. During the year ended 31 March
2019, aggregate principal amount of RMB61,910,000, equivalent
to approximately HK$71,816,000 has been repaid, while
remaining principal amount of RMB30,000,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$35,100,000, has been extended for repayment
to 1 April 2019. The entire balance was fully settled subsequent
to year end.

The effective interest rate of the above-mentioned unsecured
loans is 10%.

(ii) During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group entered into a
loan agreement with an independent third party to the Group for
an unsecured loan with principal amount of RMB800,000,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$1,000,000,000. The loan is
unsecured, carries a fixed interest rate of 10% per annum, with
the interest payable quarterly, and will be matured on 25 March
2020.

On 4 January 2019, the maturity date of the loan was extended
to 25 March 2021.

The effective interest rate of the above-mentioned unsecured
loan is 10%.

(ii)

HE2018F3A3IB L EE » A&EEH
HEZAREEBIE=AAE R
AR #91,910,0007T (8 & R 4
114,887,000/ JT) 2 & 3K 8 B 3N 5T 3L
BER o SEEEFIREE FF X
10EE  BFEEIMNFE—XK I
HSAIRE B B 1 B H - HE 20194
3AB1IBLEEE ALBEBARE
61,910,000t (48 & 7 4971,816,0007%
TLIBEE mMHBTASBEBARE
30,000,000 (48 & A £35,100,0007%
TT)IERE2019F4A1HEE - 230
HEHERFERBBELEN -

R EERER BRFRESI10E -

HE2018F3A3IB L FEE » A& H
BEZEZREEBIFE =R AL A5
A A B #800,000,0007C (1 & A 4
1,000,000,000/87T) 2 #EE I E RET L
EXpz EXAERE  REESF
FERI0EFE  BEFTEIHAE—
W ¥ H 202043 A 258 B H -

R2019F1 A48 - EFMEHAER
ZE20214F3A25R ©

PR E R BRFFRA10E -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE

29.

30.

OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following
undrawn facility from the other borrowings:

RAEERERAT | =B NWEER 151

Hfttfg & (&)
RBE K - AEEE TR A E e
B2 RRBBE

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHB T
Fixed rate [&] 7E Fl) &

— expiring on 12 January 2019 — 72019 €1 A12 BEH — 200,000

PROMISSORY NOTES . AR EE
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHBIT
At the beginning of the year REY] 855,587 793,347
Interest charge (note 11) B (BEEE11) 62,240 62,240
At the end of the year RER 917,827 855,587

On 28 July 2016, the Company issued promissory notes with a
principal amount of HK$1,168,000,000 as part of the
consideration to acquire of the entire equity interest in the
Gloryear Group. The promissory notes are unsecured, carries a
fixed interest rate of 8% per annum and will mature on 28 July
2019. All interests will be paid on the date of the maturity
date. The Company may redeem (in full or in part) the
promissory notes at any time after the date of issue of the
promissory notes and before the maturity date by serving prior
notice to the promissory notes holder. The promissory notes
are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rates at 8%.

Promissory notes with aggregate principal amount of
HK$390,000,000 were early redeemed by the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2017, while promissory notes with
aggregate principal amount of HK$778,000,000 remained
outstanding.

On 15 December 2017, promissory notes with aggregate
principal amount of HK$778,000,000 have been transferred to
Total Idea International Limited, in which Mr. Hu was the
ultimate beneficial owner.

On 5 December 2018, the maturity date of the promissory
notes has been extended from 28 July 2019 to 28 July 2020.
Details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 5
December 2018.

M2016F7 A28H » AR AIETAEEE
71,168,000,0008 7T 2 & 5 2% - BB
KEEFEEE2BRECREEFRI
Do BH B AERR RIRE E F X
BEETE - Wi 201947 A28 HEH -
FiEFMBEREEBE N - RARAF AR
A R E T B B2 = B B B AT RS EF )
EAHRBEFEAZFLELEN BEEE
ek E AR = - A HEEERER
FIEQEL BN AT E o

AABBERE2017FIA3MHIRRED
7K & #858.390,000,0007%8 7T Z #4524
i AN & 4258 778,000,000 7T 2 & H =I5
R

M2017F 128158 » K& B %E A
778,000,000 7T Hy 7 H 22 45 B 8258 T 4R
EERRREDHEAEAZEZEBBEAER

AR .

R20184E12 ASH » A X EHE M B B
201947 A28 B & & £20209F7 A28
B - BN ARAT HEA2018F 128
S5HERQLE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

31.

UNSECURED BORROWINGS FROM A

31. EEERAEE

DIRECTOR
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHT
Unsecured borrowings denominated in LA A REZI 8RBy EIK IR (S &
RMB (note (i) (BH3EG))
— principal portion — A& o 344,156 =
— interest portion — FEFHH 12,451 =
356,607 —
Unsecured borrowing denominated in LUB T BR e K IR g B
HKS$ (note (ii)) (B (i)
— principal portion — A& 50,000 =
— interest portion — FEFHH 910 =
50,910 —
407,517 —

Notes:

(ii)

On 1 June 2018 and 29 August 2018, a unsecured revolving loan
facility has been granted from Mr. Hu to certain subsidiaries
established in the PRC with amount up to RMB500,000,000,
equivalent to HK$585,000,000, and carries a fixed interest rate
of 9% per annum, with principal and interest portions will
mature on 31 May 2020. As at 31 March 2019, unsecured
borrowings with aggregate principal amount of RMB294,150,000
(31 March 2018: nil), equivalent to approximately
HK$344,156,000 (31 March 2018: nil), has been drawn down. The
above-mentioned unsecured borrowings, with the interest
accrued, will mature and be payable after 1 year from 31 March
2019 and were classified under non-current liabilities as at 31
March 2019. The effective interest rates of the unsecured
borrowings is 9% per annum.

On 7 January 2019, another unsecured revolving loan facility has
been granted from Mr. Hu to an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company with amount up to HK$100,000,000,
and carries a fixed interest rate of 8% per annum, with principal
and interest portions will mature on 6 July 2021. As at 31
March 2019, unsecured borrowing with principal amount of
HK$50,000,000 has been drawn down. The above-mentioned
unsecured borrowing, with the interest accrued, will mature and
be payable after 1 year from 31 March 2019 and was classified
under non-current liabilities as at 31 March 2019. The effective
interest rates of the unsecured borrowing is 8% per annum.

BsE -

(i

R2018F6 518 K2018F8 298 -
RS ERE TR P B A KB A A
BRHFEFNXRIE BSRHHE ARE
500,000,000t (48 & #4 585,000,000/
L) 2 EEARRERRE - A EF
BB 157202045 A31 0 B 5 - B
2019 3A31H ' A"&EBEERIA®
A A R#294,150,0007T (18 & %
#9344,156,0007% 7T (2018 F3 A31H :
#))(20184F3 4311 « £&) v E K4
BE - L ERHEEECGERREF
B)#ER2019FE3 A31H —F & EIHIE
B WHEA2019%F38318 2R
PBEE BRFEENERFNRE
9F o

R2019F1 878 SiEERARATZ
ME2ENBARREERRSE - B
%} & % 100,000,000 7T 2 £ 1K 19 18
BRERBRE A& RMBHEHBR
2021467 A6 H B 8 - 73201943 A 31
A - A% E E 2 B £ %50,000,000
BT EEAEE - L EKRES
(ER 25 7 B) #K1K2019F3/31H
—FE R HEE - WHEAE201943 8
NBZIERBAE ERFEENE
BREFRASE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE
31. UNSECURED BORROWINGS FROM A 31. EE/REAEE (F)
DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following RBEER AEBE—FEERLANR
undrawn facilities granted from a director: EIEEMT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T T& T
Fixed rate (& 7E 7 &=
— expiring on 31 May 2020 — F2020F5A318 &M 240,844 =
— expiring on 6 July 2021 — R2021%F7R6BEm 50,000 =
290,844 —
32. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 32. EZEFRBH
The movements in deferred income tax liabilities (assets) HE22019F K2018F3A3TB IEFE 2
during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, without REMSHAE(EE) B AR —
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances of the same MB e EERANR —EBHHEER) 2
entity within the same tax jurisdictions, are as follows: gEpun
Revaluation
of
investment
properties
and
investment Revaluation Undistributed
properties  of financial profits from
under asset at the PRC
construction FVTPL Tax losses subsidiaries Others Total
BRAAMEER
EEREY TABHFEZ REFE
¥REE SMEES o PNGib=4
REWE B BEBE KIREF Hit #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T T T
At 1 April 2017 R201764 818 120,224 — — 22,704 (963) 141,965
(Credited) charged to profit GWSEEEEES
or loss (1,636) — — 3,103 = 1,467
Disposal of subsidiaries HE KB A Al
(note 39) (P 5E39) (113,133) — — (27,929) 1,046 (140,016)
Exchange differences N Z5 10,512 = = 2,122 (83) 12,551
At 31 March 2018 and R201843 8318 &
1 April 2018 201844 A1 8 15,967 — — — — 15,967
(Credited) debited to profit or (3t A) #1ks B 82
loss (7,609) 1,880 (1,880) — — (7,609)
Exchange differences bE X = (1,022) — — — — (1,022)

At 31 March 2019 M201943A318 7,336 1,880 (1,880) — — 7,336
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32. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$116,224,000 (2018: HK$144,534,000)
available for offsetting against future profits. Deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of estimated unused tax losses
of approximately HK$7,520,000 (2018: nil). No deferred income
tax asset has been recognised in respect of the above
remaining estimated unused tax losses due to unpredictability
of future profit streams. Tax losses of approximately
HK$36,560,000 (2018: HK$36,560,000) have no expiry date while
losses of approximately
HK$72,144,000 (2018: HK$107,974,000) will be expired in five

the remaining unused tax

years after the relevant accounting year end date.

At 31 March 2019, the Group has deductible temporary
(2018:
HK$81,624,000) for which no deferred tax asset has been

differences of approximately HK$118,359,000
recognised due to unpredictability of future profit streams.

33. SHARE CAPITAL

32. IEERMBH (E)
MN20194%3A31H AEBAEHH
116,224,0007% 7T (20184F : 144,534,000
78 7T ) B FB B 8 oK ARO0% B 2 (S ET R B
AFEEE - BEHRBEEERZEFR
B) F % 78 /& 18 497,520,0005% 7T (2018
&) o ARNEATERRICEFIRIR -
T S h _E U ETRIBR T AR E) B R TR &
BRAREMGSHEE -HEBEY
36,560,0007 7T (20184F : 36,560,0005%
)N EE R B MR T RSB E
B8 4972,144,0007% 7T (2018 4 -
107,974,000 7T ) 14 R AE B8 & 5 F 5 45
EHBAFAERM -

R201963A31H - "EBEA A HIRE
B 14 2= 2 49118,359,000/% 7t (20184 -
81,624,000/ 7T) + AR EETRHAR A
AR - BRI BERELRIBEE ©

33. BRZA

Number of shares

vl 242

Share capital

R A

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT T

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each ~ SREME0.1 B2 ZER

Authorised EE
As at the beginning and end REY RFR
of year 5,000,000 | 5,000,000 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid, HK$0.1 each EZTRHBE -
EREE1ET
At the beginning and end of REF RER
the year 1,906,172 1,906,172 190,617 190,617
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GEMBHRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE20194F3A318 L FE
34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34. BBRETTE

On 17 August 2012, the Company adopted the 2012 share
option scheme (the “2012 Scheme”) under which the directors
of the Company may grant options to eligible persons to
subscribe for the Company’s shares subject to the terms and
conditions as stipulated therein. Unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, the 2012 Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10
years from the adoption date.

The purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide incentives to
the eligible participants to contribute to the Group and to
enable the Group to recruit high-caliber employees and attract
resources that are valuable to the Group. Under the 2012
Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options to
any person being an employee, officer, agent, or consultant of
the Group including executive or non-executive directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the
Company at a price to be determined by the board of
directors being the highest of (a) the closing price of the
shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant of the
option, which must be a trading day; (b) the average closing
price of the shares of the Stock Exchange for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option;
and (c) the nominal value of the shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which the 2012
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group is
not permitted to exceed 10% of the number of shares in issue
at the date of adoption of the 2012 Scheme or such number of
shares as a result from a sub-division or consolidation of the
number of shares at that date. Subject to as provided in the
2012 Scheme, the Company may seek approval from its
shareholders in general meeting to refresh this 10% limit, but
the total number of shares which may be issued under the
2012 Scheme must not exceed 30% of the number of shares in
issue from time to time.

No participant shall be granted an option which, if accepted
and exercised in full, would result in the participant becoming
entitled to subscribe for such number of shares as, when
aggregated with the total number of shares already issued and
which may be issued upon exercise of all options granted and
to be granted to him, together with all options granted and to
be granted to him under any other share option schemes of
the Company and/or any subsidiaries, within the 12-month
period immediately preceding the proposed date of grant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options), would
exceed 1% of the number of shares in issue as at the
proposed date of grant.

The 2012 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing 17 August 2012.

R2012F8 4178 » AR AR #920124F
BT E ([2012F 5121 )) - B - K
NEEENMEERATRTHERE -
BB AT AIREE P ATERR &R
REARRBRMD - B BITEHEKISE]
AN 20126 FTEI R ER 49 B BRI s B HA+
FIRHEEM -

02FFEERR‘EEDTAERSHE
E RRE/AEEELER - LEA
SESUABERRAEREBT B 2R
BERAAEEEEZER - R1B2012F
fE ARTEZREN NG RAAEEE
B SRAE REXEREEAR
AREMBRARZAITHIFNITES)
ZEMALTEHBERE - URBALQE
Bl RBEREFISET - HEHASRK
TH=ZEFRz&RE : QRN NERE
RERH(LARK S H) KBRS
ZWHE DR EZEBRERLA
R A ER 5 A EBRAERG 2 F1IK
mE: ROKHEE -

20124 5t 81 Ko AN 5= B T AA) H At Fs AU R =t
EHETNTRT BB TRBER
20124 A 8RB D BT B A 3
Rz BRFAKRSHFROBEMEEZ
PRAD BB Z210% ° 20125 5T &R X 2
RRT » ARR AR A G BORBR
e F L 10% R 28 - {82012 5t 878
TRAIETZRN BT FBEE TR %
1T tn 8B 30% °

AR —2EHERHBRE  MiHEEE
BREEZARZEITE  SEHER
SEEBRABZBROBE  MERE
EBREZER D BHAN2EABEA
BREER L & TREZMEBRE
ARBEARE R,/ RERMMERRZ
EREMERES S MEER ST
BHzmEBRE(REETRE B2
B Ko e RAT IR 2 B R ) T M B2 %
TRAITHERITZBMH B S LBBE
AEHAHRZEBITRMNEE 1% - BT
BREBMBRE-

2012F 5+ &8l 2 B EI R 201248 A17H
Bt BHF -
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 34. BBIRAEFTE (F)

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant upon payment of HK$1 for each grant of options.
Subject to as provided in the 2012 Scheme, options may be
exercised at any time during the option period, which is to be
notified by the directors of the Company to each grantee,
commencing on the date of grant or such later date as the
board of directors may decide and expiring on such date as
the board of directors may determine, provided that such
period is not to exceed ten years from the date of grant, and
subject to any restrictions that may be imposed by the board
of directors in its discretion.

Details of the principal terms of the 2012 Scheme are set out
in the circular of the Company dated 6 July 2012.

As at 31 March 2019, the total number of shares available to
be issued under the 2012 Scheme is 190,617,185 shares,
refreshed at the annual general meeting on 26 July 2018,
(2018: 128,009,020 shares), representing 10% (2018: 6.72%) of
the issued shares outstanding. Further details of approval of
refreshment of 2012 Scheme are set out in the Company’s
circular and announcement dated 22 June 2018 and 26 July
2018 respectively.

No share option has been granted by the Company under the
2012 Scheme during the years ended 31 March 2019 and
2018. No share options under the 2012 Scheme are
outstanding as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Rz B SAR R L B HE 28 H
NER - WEARBRIRE ZBRES N
1B TT - RIF2012F 5B Z RE - B &
BRI B R H ) A0 B B 1T 6 BB A
- BRENESHESS NG ZAR
A BHEHAH(HEESARRAELZ
REBH) B UARREEERELZ
B R - EEREDR AR L A
AARBAETF  YAREETSWIER
2 AE TR B AT AR AR -

2012F 518l 2 E Z R FBEHN AL A
HEIA2012F7 6B 2 BKNA °

A201993 8318 » 20124 st 2B T 7]
1T I D A B A2190,617,1858% (£
2018726 B IR KB F K€ F 5)
(20184F : 128,009,020/%) * HE R miE
FEINE BT D EE 10% (20184 -
6.72%) ° B EEH EEE2012F 5 8| H03E
— B RIERNAAR B EA20184F
6A228 2 8K M201845E7 A26 8 2 A

%o

H 22019 K2018F3 A3MH IEFE -
NN B S AR 20124 5 213 H R AR
#E o 720194 2018434318 » i &
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L F[E
35. COMMITMENTS 35. &
(@) Capital commitment (@ EXREE

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TAT

Capital expenditure contracted but not 2 &] 4B RN 4RA B 1§

provided for in the consolidated WMEBEZEARAXZ
financial statements
— Construction of properties — BEWE 125,937 231,910
Note: Included in the capital commitments as at 31 March 2018 BT : 5F A20184F3 A31H 2 & A &
was amount of approximately HK$172,030,000 which was EREEEAZEEFRERTL
undertaken by the main contractor of Chongging 172,030,000 7T 2 A& HE 5K I8 -
Kingstone and the main contractor has agreed not to MEMFEAEBERETE
demand repayment from Chongging Kingstone on or ZREE 2 AM2018%F6H30
before 30 June 2018. Az BRI -
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) KEHERE
The Group as lessee AEBEREHEA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RMERR AEBEFHEERD
commitments for future minimum lease of the rented EWE 2R R&RAEAEEH
office premises, which falls due as follows: 1R -
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Within 1 year 1FER 3,401 1,081
In the second to fifth years inclusive 52 =55 F R
(EEMEBFEEAN) 2,222 —
5,623 1,081
Leases are negotiated for an average term of nine HELERERBYEYEAELER
months to two years (2018: one to two years) and EWF(2018F : —E2WF) » I

rentals are fixed during the relevant lease period. EREBAAERRNENEERS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=201943A31H L FE

36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the Group has entered

in the following

transactions with related parties:

36.

EXBEALRS

SRz M IS MREME D AIREE S
AEEDEBEBEBALFILATRS ¢

(@) Key management compensation @ TEEBABZHMH
Key management includes executive directors and senior FEEBABBRERARAINTE
management of the Company. The compensation paid or ERERBEEAB - HIEHES
payable to key management for employee services is RBENNENTEEZEEEAR
shown below: ZENE ST
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Short-term benefits 55 BR4E A 8,870 9,562
Post-employment benefits B 39 20
8,909 9,582
The remuneration of executive directors of the Company RRABHITEE 2 o H M
is determined by the remuneration committee having ZEgREEFEBERBRMBAX
regard to the performance of operating results and IRMEETE °
individual performance.
(b) Significant related party transactions by EXBEEALRS
In addition to the information shown elsewhere in the BREFE M BIMEREME D FEE
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the BN RE B EREEATIRE

following material transaction with a related party, which
was entered into at terms mutually agreed with the
related party.

HERBHFFIETATEARS -

2019 2018
Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
BEATBR REZHE TR T
Entities which are under control by Rental expense 1,305 —
Mr. Hu HERX
AL TS 2 B Purchases of property, 493 —
plant and equipment
BEWE BELRE
Interest expenses on other 2,609 —
borrowings
HEMEEEENNEMX
Interest expenses on 62,240 —
promissory notes
AEREEENNERAX
Mr. Hu Interest expense on 13,255 —
ik unsecured borrowings
BEERESEEENNERAX
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36.

37.

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Significant related party transactions
(Continued)
These transactions are carried out at normal commercial
terms determined and agreed by the Group and the
related parties.

(c) Balances with related parties

Except for as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had no other material
balances with related parties as at 31 March 2019 and
2018.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of an independent trustee. The Group contributes 5%
of relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, capped at
HK$1,500 (2018: HK$1,500) per month, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme
being operated by the local PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute 10% to 15% (2018: 10%
to 15%) of the average basic salary to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the
specified contributions.

The total expense charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss of approximately HK$2,924,000 (2018:
HK$3,774,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019.

36.

37.

RABMERAT | —2—NEFR 159

ERBEAERES (H)
(b) EXEEALRS (&)

SERXFEANEEEBBEETNT
19 7€ B — AR R ARBOETT

(c0 BEALTEE
BRaGEVRREMITDMIEE
N R20194F K& 20184 3 A 31
A RNEBIWELAMEEE AL
B ZEH% -

EARERGE
AEEBAMBRBAEREELZMAR
©FTE - BESFE 2 EEMRBUIERT
AFMEGIESER  TEAEEZEE
PEAFE - AEERBRBESTEIMNZ
HREEABBEHMAARZ5% @ #H3k R
%% A1,500% 7T (20184 : 1,500/
L) BEBMSNEMER -

AREFEFRHBARZEEBRTRE
& BREBRKEHNE 2
KB - ZHEBARARRKERNTE X
FFEHERFE 2 10% = 15% (2018 4F -
10%Z15%) EARFIES - BhRIKEF
HEmE  AEEZH—ETAXNIE

FE K o

FiRABER T AR #2,924,0008 7T
(20184 : 3,774,000 7T) * AAKER
B E2019F3A31H L FEAM Filt5h
IEL 2 K -
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash

flows from financing activities.

38. RERMEETB 2 EEHK

TRAVAGEEAREEHELE CRBE
2% SRRSRIRCED - BER
PELZEBERASREXRKRSR
EYNGEAREERERRT OB ARE

ABzHREREZARE

Non-cash changes

FREEH
1 April Financing Finance cost Exchange 31 March
2018  cash flows incurred  differences 2019
20184 RERE MELRE 20194
4A1A8 mE %S ERER 3H318
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
T T FAET T T FAET T T
Amount due to a related company JESRAERR] = 1,305 = = 1,305
Promissory notes EEER 855,587 = 62,240 — 917,827
Unsecured borrowings from a director EEEEKBEER = 391,214 13,255 3,048 407,517
Other borrowings HEmEE 1,121,906 (143,114) 102,391 (72,153) 1,009,030
1,977,493 249,405 177,886 (69,105) 2,335,679
Non-cash changes
FREBH
Gain on
Finance waiver of
1 April Financing costs interest Exchange 31 March
2017  cash flows incurred payable differences 2018
2017 F MERE FEE ek 20184
4818 RE BMERE Bz EREH 3A318
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
Amounts due to Mr. Tsoi and & AFEET & &k E A
companies under his control FETBR R Z BB
included in accruals and BEAEERTHE
other payables ZRAZHK 132,093 (140,490) = = 11,585 3,188
Promissory notes L E YR 793,347 = 62,240 = = 855,587
Bank and other borrowings WITREMBEE 1,404,501 (475,419) 106,647 (1,979) 88,156 1,121,906
2,329,941 (615,909) 168,887 (1,979) 99,741 1,980,681
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

As stated in note 14, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interest in the Smartest Man Group at a cash consideration of
RMB362,480,000, equivalent to HK$428,659,000, on 3 January
2018. The net assets of the Smartest Man Group at the date of
disposal were as follows:

39. HEMBE AR
AN 14ATHL - AEEE R20184F 1
ASHEEHERNENEBMNEIPE -
/4 RE A ARK362,480,0007T (FHE
1428,659,000 7T) c B X EB N HE
AfZEEFEL T ¢

3 January 2018

20185%F1A3H

HK$'000

FA&IT

Cash received BWIR & 428,659
Less: direct transaction costs in relation B HEEEEACEER SR

to the Disposal (1,386)

Net consideration received R EFRE 427,273

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: KEEHIECEERBED T

3 January 2018

2018%F1H83H

HK$'000

T

Investment properties "EYE 661,920

Investment properties under construction ERIREMS 62,760

Plant and equipment N 131

Properties under development ERPYE 38,553

Completed properties held for sale BIEHEZ®R T 259,108
Deposits, prepayments, trade and other receivables %4 - FafI71E - BUE R L H A

J& W AR 3R 33,894

Restricted bank balance SR HISR1T1F 703

Cash and cash equivalents RekERRS 189,128

Accruals and other payables FEET & A K E b FE - BR 3K (381,339)

Current income tax liabilities EHMSHAsE (130,363)

Deferred tax liabilities FRERIEAE (140,016)

Net assets disposed of T E&EFE 594,479
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39.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 39. HEKB AT (&)

Gain on the Disposal: HESFE WA :
3 January 2018
201841 A3 H
HK$'000
T T
Net consideration received B EFE 427,273
Net assets disposed of B & B EFE (594,479)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR R 2 156,418
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the net 7 5k 2 Bif B /A &) 35 i) 4 i B B A &)
assets of the subsidiaries reclassified from equity to EEFEREREHFHBEEIEH
profit or loss on loss of control of the subsidiaries Z BFTEH =% 28,860
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 14) HENB AR 2 WA (iE14) 18,072
Net cash inflow arising on the Disposal: HEEECRESRAFE

For the year
ended 31 March
2018
HZ2018%3 48
J1IBLEE
HK$'000

T T

Net consideration received B EFRE 427,273
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of B FHEReMERIRE (189,128)

238,145

The impact of the Smartest Man Group’s results and cash RABERBTFEHEXEBEER
flows for the current period and prior year is disclosed in note REMBEZTERWE14HEE -
14.
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40.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
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40. ERADTHBRRFZ N

2019 2018
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHET
Non-current assets FIREBEE
Plant and equipment % B K 5% A 23 405
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRARZKE 1,658,750 1,658,750
1,658,773 1,659,155
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other e EfFEERE
receivables th JiE Y2 R 5R 22,417 22,928
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGB (i) 404,579 355,294
Cash and cash equivalents HekERRE 1,018 44,131
428,014 422,353
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables H b fE - BR 3K 3,285 3,835
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEATBY B A B RIE (i) 538,060 509,705
541,345 513,540
Net current liabilities RBEEEE (113,331) (91,187)
Total assets less current liabilites @EERRBEE 1,545,442 1,567,968
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Promissory notes AR 917,827 855,587
Net assets EEFE 627,615 712,381
Capital and reserves BRAS % ik
Share capital &N 190,617 190,617
Reserves & (ii) 436,998 521,764
Total equity wmER 627,615 712,381
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40.

41.

(CO

Notes:

0]

(i)

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 40. EEA QA RAMBMRR KR 2 ER
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (#&)
NTINUED)
B 5
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable (i) R20194 & 20183 A31H * B K
on demand as at 31 March 2019 and 2018. HAEER T B RIRERERE -
Movement in reserves: iy fHEEH:
Retained
profits
Share (Accumulated
premium losses) Total
REEF
B RE (R&TEE) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHTT FHTT
As at 1 April 2017 M2017%4 811 446,244 159,798 606,042
Loss for the year REEERE — (84,278) (84,278)
As at 31 March 2018 R2018F3A31H KR
and 1 April 2018 2018%481H 446,244 75,520 521,764
Loss for the year AFEEERE — (84,766) (84,766)
As at 31 March 2019 7A2019%3H31H 446,244 (9,246) 436,998
PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 41. ZAT T EKEBATER

OF THE COMPANY

Name of subsidiary

MEARER

Place of establishment/
operation and kind of
legal entity
FEBRIRYL
EEBHRME

Paid up capital

BERMEESR

Percentage of equity interest

attributable to the Company  Principal activities

AAFREEREF DL

2019 2018
Direct Indirect
HE Bk

EFEEK

Direct Indirect

HE BE

Chongging Kingstone

BEEER

The PRC, wholly-owned
foreign enterprise

R SNEBE LR

US$67,389,400

67,389,400 7T

The above table lists the subsidiary of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

100% 100% Development,
sales and
leasing of
properties
and
investment
holding

MEZR  HE
REEREKE
R

ERINEARBDEERBEIEFEAE
BREAXREELAKEMBLR - AR
AEERS  REEMHEBARFERK
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 41. ZATEEHRB AR ER (&)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other RBEER  AEBEHRBEHAEEL T
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. BEAZEMITBRFR -

The principal activities and place of business of these ZEMB AR 2 E BB R EEH B
subsidiaries are summarised as follows: A

Number of subsidiaries

MEATEE

Principal activities Principal place of business 2018
FTEEK FTEEE M
Inactive Hong Kong 13 6
TS BE

British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) 1 1

EBEES((EBEXES])

The PRC 9 2

a2

Singapore 1 1

s
Investment holding Hong Kong 4 6
AR B

BVI 16 7

EBREXES
Property management PRC 1 —
M E IR H

45 23

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities at the R 5 B R 2k AR A0 AR (] B ) - AR A

end of or at any time during both reporting periods. M A REEITEMGERBES
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T FEMBERE
RESULTS
E 4
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3831BLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET T T T T FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Revenue A 156,721 23,188 133,714 190,698 73,368
(Loss) profit before tax BREFSHLAT (B51E)
il (95,332) (87,046) (51,940) 106,104 57,654
Income tax expenses FrisfiF (33,991) (22,626) (68,912) (38,623) (43,202)
(Loss) profit for the year REEREFELEHE
from continuing %2 (E518) & T
operations (129,323) (109,672) (120,852) 67,481 14,452
Profit (loss) for the year REFRADRIELE
from discontinued X% 2 mH ()
operation — 16,478 (1,628) — 1,884
(Loss) profit for the year REEZ (E1E) &7 (129,323) (93,194)  (122,480) 67,431 16,336
(Loss) profit for the year BEHREAFEE
attributable to: (E18) = A
Equity holders of the ZIN/NE | 35S
Company (129,323) (92,650) (121,926) 51,192 10,979
Non-controlling interests FE 1 IR HE 2 — (544) (554) 16,289 5,357
(129,323) (93,194) (122,480) 67,481 16,336
Dividend per share iR E
Interim dividend HERR B — — — — —
Special interim dividend Rl HA AR B — = — — =
Proposed final dividend ¥Rk R HA A% 8 — = — — =
Proposed special FER 5 R AR B

dividend
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TFEMBRE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EEREE
At 31 March
M3A31H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET AT AT TAT
Total assets BEE 3,414,594 | 3,312,220 4,355,905 1,827,976 1,861,205
Total liabilities waeE (2,639,852) | (2,287,919) (3,227,138)  (663,843)  (981,695)
Non-controlling interests FEE IR HE 2 — —  (141,386)  (156,082)  (151,429)
Equity attributable to equity A2 &) % 5 & (b 25
holders of the Company 774,742 | 1,024,301 987,381 1,008,051 728,081
Notes: The comparative amounts, unless otherwise stated, have not been izt : kEBRE T (B HFHEKRIN KB EF| LA R
restated for the effects of the discontinued operation as detailed in REMERERMF14MFLERIEEBHY
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements because, in the Z2 FRAAEEERBEIZZBAEFES

opinion of the management, the restatement of these prior years'
amounts would provide no additional useful information to the users
of the consolidated financial statements.
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PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES
FEYFE

Below is a schedule of properties held by the Group in the PRC as 201993 A31H » AEBA R B 2 ¥ K

at 31 March 2019: ROT -
Location Description and Tenure Use Group’s Interest
it 26 B & EH A& A& B AT LR =
Ccommercial portion of the property  The portion has a total Commercial building under 100%
located at 77 Qingnian Road, gross floor area of development
Yuzhong District, Chongging, approximately 50,740.60
the PRC square meters.

The portion is held under
medium lease between
10 years and 50 years.

URPBREEMATRESFERI7H ZBHOAREEED LRPEHEET 100%
M2 EFEID 50,740.60F 5 3 o

ZEBD AN F10E505F 2
REIENTE

Serviced Apartments portion of the  The portion has a total Serviced apartments under 100%
property located at 77 Qingnian gross floor area of development
Road, Yuzhong District, Chongging, approximately 22,470.90
the PRC square meters.

The portion is held under
medium lease between
10 years and 50 years.

7 PA B B B T A R R B B 77 9% 2B HIREE AL ERPBRBEXAE 100%
MEZRFEXNAFEHLSD 22,470.90F 75K ©
ZIMEAN F10E50F 2
REIMEAIRE -
Residential portion of the property The portion has a total Residential building under 100%
located at 77 Qingnian Road, gross floor area of development
Yuzhong District, Chongging, approximately 18,757.48
the PRC square meters.
7 PA B B B T A R R B B 77 9% ZEP D EEMIEL18,757.48 ERFPLAEETF 100%

MEZRBRD FHKe
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